# Marshall University Marshall Digital Scholar

Theses, Dissertations and Capstones

2008

# A Descriptive Analysis of Quality Online Practices as Perceived by West Virginia Higher Education Faculty

Michael H. Murphy

Follow this and additional works at: http://mds.marshall.edu/etd Part of the <u>Curriculum and Instruction Commons</u>, and the <u>Instructional Media Design</u> <u>Commons</u>

## **Recommended** Citation

Murphy, Michael H., "A Descriptive Analysis of Quality Online Practices as Perceived by West Virginia Higher Education Faculty" (2008). *Theses, Dissertations and Capstones.* Paper 774.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Marshall Digital Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses, Dissertations and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Marshall Digital Scholar. For more information, please contact zhangj@marshall.edu.

# A Descriptive Analysis of Quality Online Practices as Perceived by West Virginia Higher Education Faculty

# Michael H. Murphy Marshall University College of Education and Human Services

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Marshall University Graduate College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Education in Curriculum and Instruction

Committee Chair, Rudy D. Pauley, Ed.D. Lisa A. Heaton, Ph.D. Nega Debela, Ph.D. Emily Waugh, Ed.D.

Huntington, West Virginia, 2008

Keywords: Online education, Quality Online Practices

Copyright ® 2008 by Michael H. Murphy

#### ABSTRACT

# A Descriptive Analysis of Quality Online Practices as Perceived by West Virginia Higher Education Faculty

## Michael H. Murphy

The purpose of this study was to examine the extent West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect high quality practices, as identified by the literature, for teaching in an online educational environment. The identified high quality practices are: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. This was a non-parametric study that incorporated measures of central tendency and the Kruskal Wallace test for significance to analyze the data. The instrument used in this research was a cross-sectional, self-reporting survey, titled the Survey of Online Educational Practices. The participants of this study were West Virginia higher education faculty who taught in online environments during the spring, summer and fall semesters of 2006. Results of the survey yielded that overall West Virginia Higher Education faculty agreed with the statements on the Survey of Online Educational Practices that their courses reflected quality online practices as supported by the comprehensive literature review. However, further analysis of the survey results revealed faculty do not agree with all of the quality online practices targeted within the survey. For example, there is evidence from the survey results that indicate the areas of institutional support, collaboration and teamwork, and areas of assessment are not well utilized by faculty. These areas of disagreement with quality online practices provide valuable information that there is an ongoing need for sustainable professional development and mentoring opportunities for online faculty. There is also a need for institutions to provide policies and procedures that are reviewed and revised by faculty and other higher education stakeholders on a regular basis due to the ever-changing nature of technology and online education.

# **DEDICATION**

This dissertation is dedicated to a few wonderful people: To my mother, Nellie Murphy, whose faith, affection and support has always provided strength to me and helped me start this journey into lifelong learning; to Dr. Edna Meisel, whose loyalty, friendship and patience have given me the hope, guidance and perseverance to complete this step in my educational journey; and finally this dissertation is dedicated to Robert Drake, who has helped me to realize that all types of journeys can be achieved and that dreams can come true.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is difficult to truly thank all of the people that have provided support, encouragement, time and effort to complete this process. However, I do wish to express my sincere thanks to the following people:

To my dissertation committee, guided by Dr. Rudy Pauley, and including Dr. Lisa Heaton, Dr. Nega Debela, and Dr. Emily Waugh; thank you for providing your expert supervision, patience and tolerance when I needed it and firmness when I required it as well. In addition, I need to acknowledge, Dr. Teresa Eagle, the faculty, and staff that have provided encouragement and nurturing to me.

Furthermore, I need to acknowledge my sisters Harriet and Karen; thank you for listening to my seemingly endless conversations about my dissertation; and thank you for your support over the years in my educational endeavors. Finally, I would like to give a special thank you to the Sock Club who, along the way have become quite good friends and taught me the meaning of determination and enthusiasm for education. This experience has been an unimaginable journey for me and I hope that I continue this journey with many more adventures. Thank you again, to all of you, for giving me the passion for lifelong learning and I hope that I can continue to pay it forward.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
Chapter One	1
INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	3
Defining Online Education in the 21st Century	6
Levels of Internet Interactivity	. 10
STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	. 13
PURPOSE OF THE STUDY	. 14
RESEARCH QUESTION	. 14
Operational Definitions	. 14
SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY	. 16
Limitations of the Study	. 18
Chapter Two	. 20
LITERATURE REVIEW	. 20
THE ONLINE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT	. 22
Conflicting views of Best Practices	. 23
DOMAINS OF BEST PRACTICES FOR UNLINE EDUCATION	.27
BEST PRACTICES IN ONLINE EDUCATION	. 29
Support	. 29
Collaboration and Teamwork	. 38
QUALITY UNLINE TEACHING PRACTICES	. 42
Flexibility	. 42
A ga a growthe	. 43
Assessment	. JI 61
Chapter Shadary	. 01
CHAPTER SUMMARY	. 07
Chapter Three	. 69
Methods	. 69
Research Design	. 70
PARTICIPANTS	. 70
DATA COLLECTION	. 71
INSTRUMENTATION	. 72
Expert Recommendations	. 74
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	. 75
CHAPTER SUMMARY	. 76

Chapter Four	77
Findings	77
POPULATION AND SAMPLE	78
MAJOR FINDINGS	79
A SUMMARY FOR TARGETED QUALITY ONLINE PRACTICES	81
Support: Institutional Support	81
Support: Faculty Support	83
Support: Technology Support	84
Collaboration and Teamwork	86
Flexibility	87
Feedback	88
Assessment	90
Adult Learning Techniques	91
Research Question Outcome	92
Demographic Data	94
Demographic: Sex	94
Demographic: Employment Status	94
Demographic: Tenure Status	95
Demographic: Years Teaching in Higher Education	
Demographic: Years Teaching Online	96
ANCILLARY FINDINGS	96
Analysis of Online Practices and Years Teaching in Higher Education	97
Analysis of Online Practices and Years Teaching in Online Education	98
Analysis of Open Ended Statements from Survey Respondents	
CHAPTER SUMMARY	100
Chapter Five	105
CONCLUSIONS IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	105
OVERVIEW	105
Conclusions and Implications	107
Conclusions: Quality Practices of Institutional Support	. 107
Conclusions: Quality Practices of Faculty Support	110
Conclusions: Quality Practices Technological Support	112
Conclusions: Quality Practices of Collaboration and Teamwork	113
Conclusions: Quality Practices of Flexibility	116
Conclusions: Quality Practices of Feedback	. 118
Conclusions: Quality Practices of Assessments	119
Conclusions: Quality Practices of Adult Learning Techniques	122
SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER STUDY	124
Dafarancas	127
	. 147
Appenaices	145
APPENDIX A: SURVEY OF ONLINE EDUCATIONAL PRACTICES	146
APPENDIX B: SURVEY COVER LETTER	149

Curriculum Vitae	
APPENDIX G: IRB APPROVAL LETTER	
APPENDIX F: QUESTIONS FOR PANEL OF EXPERTS	
Appendix E: Panel Of Experts	
APPENIDX D: FOLLOW UP SURVEY COVER LETTER	
APPENDIX C: POST CARD REMINDER	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 - Research Question and Represented Survey Statements	80
Table 2 - Individual Mean Scores for Targeted Online Practices	81
Table 3 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Institutional Support	82
Table 4 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Institutional Support	83
Table 5 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Faculty Support	83
Table 6 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Faculty Support	84
Table 7 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Technology Support	85
Table 8 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Technology Support	86
Table 9 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Collaboration & Teamwork	86
Table 10 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Collaboration and Teamwork	87
Table 11 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Flexibility	87
Table 12 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Flexibility	88
Table 13 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Feedback	89
Table 14 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Feedback	90
Table 15 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Assessment	90
Table 16 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Assessment	91
Table 17 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Adult Learning Techniques	91
Table 18 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Adult Learning Techniques	92
Table 19 - Descriptive Data for Targeted Composite Online Practices	93
Table 20 - Descriptive Data for Sex	94
Table 21 - Descriptive Data for Faculty Status of Employment	95

Table 22 - Descriptive Data for Faculty Status of Job Classification	95
Table 23 - Frequency Distribution of Higher Education Teaching Experience	96
Table 24 - Frequency Distribution of Online Teaching Experience	96
Table 25 - Kruskal-Wallis Results Comparing Composite Quality Online Practices and	
Years Teaching in Higher Education Across All Groups	97
Table 26 - Kruskal-Wallis Results Comparing Composite Quality Online Practices and	
Years Teaching Online Across All Groups	99

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

# Introduction

The explosive growth of online degree programs in the past few years has fundamentally altered the practice of distance education and has provided new methods for delivering higher education online. Dennis (2003) stated that over one half of higher education institutions in the United States offer coursework online. In addition, the Sloan Consortium (2004) suggested there were over 2.6 million students enrolled in online education courses in the fall of 2004. Based on this growth rate, institutions of higher education are attempting to provide for the implementation of high-quality instruction on the Internet (Taylor, 2004; White & Weight, 2000).

As more college students turn to online educational environments, it may become necessary for higher education institutions to adjust their delivery methods. Online learning can significantly change today's higher education institutions. Educators are redefining the physical space of the classroom with the World Wide Web and with communities of learning residing within cyberspace.

Thus, instruction no longer needs to be bound by time and physical space; learning opportunities can exist anywhere, and at any time. This idea can be a cathartic revelation for institutions that are struggling for classroom space and funding. However, this "new frontier" of learning raises important questions about whether or not the Internet can provide the same quality of learning and academic standards that are prevalent in the traditional institutional setting.

Many higher education institutions have developed standards to ensure quality in online instruction. Although Roberts (1999) suggested these guidelines are often defined

utilizing the same set of rules as live instruction and do not account for any real differences in online instruction. Roberts also suggested that online learning is not only a relatively new phenomenon for students, but it is also a new phenomenon for most faculty in higher education. Many faculty members are being pressured to teach online courses because colleges and universities are attempting to find methods to expand their market via the Internet.

However, not all online educational environments that are springing up on the Internet are reliable resources for accredited degrees (Weiger, 1998). Thus, due to the onset of numerous online educational environments outside of established accredited institutions, inconsistencies in the quality of online education have compelled higher education accreditation associations to assess online teaching environments. In 1998, the report of the Council for Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA, 1998) included recommendations for online learning environments. CHEA suggested that these environments should include: (a) valid and reliable performance measurements, (b) evidentiary contact between student and faculty, (c) the promotion of systematic selection and training in the use of electronic resources, and (d) evidence of effective instructional techniques.

Twigg (2001) argued that while the higher education community had developed numerous quality and best practice indicators for traditional educational environments in the early nineties, no similar construct was available for online educational environments. Twigg lamented the fact that institutions were not standardizing their own online educational best practices. However, the Institute for Higher Education Policy (IHEP) reviewed the existing principles and guidelines for online educational environments that were available and proposed twenty-four quality concepts of best practices for measuring Internet-based learning (IHEP, 2000). The IHEP grouped their recommendations for quality Internet-based learning into seven broad categories: (a) institutional support, (b) course development, (c) teaching and learning, (d) course structure, (e) student support, (f) faculty support, and (g) assessment and evaluation. In 2001, the Southern Regional Education Board (SREB, 2001) suggested that higher education institutions needed to assemble an instructional design team to effectively build a quality online environment. However, the SREB indicated that the core of the team had to be the instructor of the course to guarantee academic integrity. Thus the faculty member becomes the primary stakeholder in providing a quality online experience to students.

#### Background

The question of quality in higher education has always been a concern, regardless if it is face-to-face or online instruction. Indeed, most academic procedures, such as a thesis or a dissertation are intended to secure the quality of academic work and knowledge. Twigg (2001) suggested that quality assurance is the trade-mark of higher education and that without quality, there is no higher education.

High standards and quality have been integrated so long into academia that the concept of quality in education has often been taken for granted. However, Weiger (1998) stated that quality in higher education courses are no longer the solitary interest of academics. Today, higher education has many different stakeholders, with varying interests and perspectives, which are concerned with quality and high standards of learning. Additionally, Aragon (2003) declared that higher education is not as homogenous as it used to be, and as a direct result of its extensions and diversification,

the purposes of higher education may vary. Increasingly, new committees and positions have been created as institutions and departments become subject to additional accountability assessments and in some cases, quality and standards directly affect departmental budgets (Taylor, 2004).

Thus, as a result of diminishing finances, institutional authorities want to insure that the funding invested in higher education is well spent. Today, it is mandatory for higher education to be held accountable and to demonstrate its quality and standards to governing and accrediting bodies (Benson, 2003). Ascough (2002) stated that the bottom line is to articulate and clarify perceptions of quality and that those quality elements "fit" the purpose of the institution. Husmann and Miller (2001) stated that controversy over quality in education has not diminished, and the need for high standards is important to succeed in producing critical and reflective life-long learners.

However, Twigg (2001) suggested that higher education has developed several quality indicators for traditional education that are well accepted by many institutions. A few of these quality elements include: (a) face-to-face instruction; (b) expert content and subject matter instruction related to quality indicators; and (c) the status and the degree held by the instructor teaching the class. Certainly, many other elements of high standards apply and quality assurance applies; but Twigg suggests that many common quality indicators do not and should not apply to online education. Volery (2000) stated that institutions should not apply the exact same quality standards for online education, because the roles and responsibilities for instructors and the mode of delivery are entirely different. Berge (1998) also contends that even the meaning of online education changes the rules for quality education and that online education is still an emerging field.

In fact, Hanna, Glowacki-Dudka, and Conceicao-Runlee (2000) suggested that the concept of teaching in an online environment is still in its infancy. A careful review of the literature, presented a large number of definitions for online educational environments. For instance, McGreal and Elliot (2004) suggested that an online learning environment is dynamic, distributed, accessible, interactive, open, filtered and archival. Caplan (2004) insisted that online learning environments fall into two basic categories: courses that are text based, with computer mediated enhancements, and courses that are designed specifically for the distributed Internet setting and that may merge several multi-media components into a single course of study.

Palloff and Pratt (1999) provided their own definition of online learning by revising Keegan's (1996) five key elements in online learning environments as: (a) the separation of teacher and learner during the instructional process, (b) the provision of two-way communication between teacher, tutor or educational agency and learner, (c) the use of educational media to unite teacher and learner, (d) the separation of teacher and learner in both time and space, and (e) the volitional control of learning by students rather than by the online instruction. In other words, students create their own meaning based on the educational strategy of the instructor.

Other authors suggest that the definition of online education must encompass the broader aspects of online distance learning and be defined as the ability of higher education to meet the needs of a growing diverse population of distance learners (Chambers, 1997; Dabbagh & Bannan-Ritland, 2005; Gibson, O'Reilly & Hughes, 2002). In fact, in the early 1990s, Dillon and Blanchard (1991) defined online education as a

means for education to be anytime, anywhere and for anyone, and must no longer be considered "education for all" but must be considered "education for each."

Berge and Collins (1995) also believed that online education could be anywhere and could be delivered at any time. They concluded that online education meant the liberation of instruction from the constraints of time, space and place. These researchers also defined online education as computer mediated communication and suggested that online education should be used to structure and manage the presentation of information and any possible response available from the student.

#### Defining Online Education in the 21st Century

As online learning moved into the 21<sup>st</sup> century and new authors began writing about online education, there has been a change in the depth and diversity of online education definitions. Technological changes in hardware and software have significantly evolved in the past five years rendering possibly different conclusions for defining online teaching. For instance, Swan (2002) divided the definition of online education into synchronous and asynchronous online learning environments. Swan identified synchronous online education as that in which students are online at the same time but may be in a different place or space. Swan defined asynchronous as interactions in online educational environments that do not take place in real time, space or place. In other words, asynchronous interactions allow the learner to join in course assignments or activities wherever they are physically and at an hour that is convenient for them to participate.

In another interpretation, Garrison, Cleveland-Innes, and Fung (2004) suggested that social definitions must be part of the defining role of online education. For example, Galusha (1997) indicated the social definition of an online teaching environment as solely student-centered learning; thus it is essential for the instructor to know the characteristics and demographics of the distance learner in order to understand the potential barriers the learner might experience. Galusha further suggested that this social aspect of online education provides institutions knowledge about student characteristics and motivators. This in turn helps faculty to understand students who are likely to participate in distance education and, conversely, why other students choose not to take an online course. Edwards, Webb, and Murphy (2000) also supported a broad social definition of online educational environments. They stated that online educational environments are defined as open learning, flexible and student–centered and must rely on the use of Internet-based communication technologies.

To further add to the dilemma of arriving at a cohesive definition of online environments, Hanna, Glowacki-Dudka, and Conceicao-Runlee (2000) suggested that online education can be both formal and informal. Formal online education provides students with suggested objectives, learning rationale and proposed outcomes based on a predetermined structure. Informal online education provides students with unstructured objectives that are not well defined and learning outcomes are not proposed.

In contrast to these complex ideas for online education definitions, other authors provide simple ones. For example, Clark (2002) suggested that the only definition of an online educational environment is one that supplies any educational material on a computer. Another simple definition of an online educational environment, provided by Volery (2000), is that online education and delivery is nothing more than a form of distributed learning enabled by the Internet. Volery adds that because online education

environments constantly have technology present, online education must continuously incorporate technology creatively by both the teacher and the learner.

More recently, Ascough (2002) provided an even simpler definition, stating that online educational environments must be delivered via a computer and the World Wide Web. However, Allen and Seaman (2003) suggested that in order for a course to be considered an online educational environment, it must have at least 80% of the course content delivered online.

Further evidence of expanded interpretations of online educational environments might be attributed to the proliferation of online courses in recent years and the growing need to establish standards for online education. Additionally, new standards within global telecommunications and higher bandwidth potential within data-lines provide a greater capacity to use video, audio and other multimedia to enrich and provide content. For example, Anderson and Elloumi (2004) suggest that the definition of online education must incorporate not only the learner, but must also include the educational process. They further defined online educational environments as the use of the Internet to access educational materials along with interaction between learners, teachers and content to acquire knowledge, construct personal meaning and to have support during the learning process.

Chambers (1997) recommended six components to define online educational environments. These are: (a) time shifted instruction, (b) dynamic instruction, (c) unbounded (distance, space and time) instruction, (d) decentralized instruction, (e) continuously evolving technology, and (f) unfiltered search-ability. Time shifted instruction and decentralized instruction are directly related to unbounded instruction.

Chambers suggested online courses are not bound within the confines of an institution's physical location, thus online education can be expanded globally. Chambers further suggested an educator's awareness of time differentials may be a pertinent consideration when developing an online educational environment. For instance, distance and time delay can play an integral part in determining if a course is going to be synchronous or asynchronous. In other words, it may be physically impossible for instructors to have synchronous classes with people in different global time zones. In addition, although bandwidth for telecommunications has expanded in recent years, synchronous online instruction may not be possible for large numbers of students to access a single course simultaneously without overtaxing the existing hardware infrastructure.

Another expanded interpretation of online educational environments is provided by Dabbagh and Bannan-Ritland (2005). These authors state that online educational environments should be interactive, open, distributed learning and should utilize constructivist instructional strategies. Dabbagh and Bannan-Ritland also affirm that online learning environments must use pedagogical tools, enabled by the Internet and Web-based technologies, to help students gain knowledge and learn through meaningful interactions and activities. In fact, Anderson and Elloumi (2004) asserted that until recently there was no standard, globally accepted definition of what constitutes an online course or online learning environment.

As a result, the massive phenomenon of online educational opportunities has forced higher education institutions to create their own set of policies, procedures and best practices in online education, to meet the growing demand for online courses. This movement to create best practices and procedures at the institutional level has guided

regional accrediting commissions to set standards for online education to ensure high quality in distance education (Benson, 2003). Benson further pointed out that eight accrediting commissions joined together to create guidelines for best practices in online education and identified benchmarks which could be utilized in the evaluation process for institution accreditation. These best practices set forth by literature and the eight accrediting commissions are examined and discussed in chapter two.

#### Levels of Internet Interactivity

Considering the many definitions of online learning environments, the literature appears to base the definition of online education on the levels of use of the Internet for instructional purposes. Egbert and Thomas (2001) clearly indicate this paradigm by suggesting that in the development of an online course an instructor must consider the level of Web interactivity.

These levels of Web interactivity are well defined by Sunal, Sunal, Odell, and Sundberg (2003), and are listed as follows: (a) Level 1: traditional courses - these are courses in which no Internet presence is used and are considered standard face-to-face, regular lecture campus courses; (b) Level 2: web-presence - this is a course that has a modicum of information about the course on a web site. The idea is that this is more of a marketing tool for the course; (c) Level 3: web-enhanced - this is a course that makes use of the web to provide course material to learners and will often provide student-toprofessor, or student-to-student communication. Multimedia tools, such as audio or video enhancements, might also be used in the course; (d) Level 4: web centric - this indicates that the course is primarily moved from the physical classroom to the web. Course content, communications, interaction, and resources are on the web. Fewer classes are held on the physical campus than a traditional course and there is greater time flexibility. Also geographic potential exists to include students who may not be able to physically attend a traditional class as often; and (e) Level 5: web-course - this is a course that is completely accessed via the Internet. Time may be asynchronous or synchronous. All materials, content, interactivity, and communications are provided through the web. The course does not require attendance at a physical site. Sunal et al. further breakdown the Web-course into three distinct parts that deal with theoretical views of course delivery. These are: (a) web traditional approach, (b) web cognitive approach, and (c) web constructivist approach.

In addition to levels of Internet interactivity, the Sloan Consortium (2005) suggests that "best practices" help to improve the quality, scale and breadth of online education. However, these "best practices" as described in the literature must not only include the faculty member but must flow through the institution's infrastructure as well.

This study will focus on best practices utilized by faculty in West Virginia, in an online educational environment. These best practices are supported by literature and are delineated by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions [C-RAC] (2003) to provide quality online instruction. This study will examine: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. These domains are listed in an order that can be reviewed from the importance of the institutional involvement to the practicing higher education faculty member's involvement in online learning. Operational definitions for these best practices will be provided within chapter one. In addition, literature which supports these "best practices" will be fully reviewed in chapter two. These "best practices" will describe the

institutional support, faculty support, technological support and practitioner tools that might create a more meaningful experience for the instructor and the student.

Best practices and quality online education do not occur in a vacuum and by itself the use of technology will not provide quality online courses. Cuban (2001) suggested that the transformation of teaching in online environments has not achieved the expected results. Simply buying the hardware and software for educators to use is fruitless if faculty do not use it effectively. Nevertheless, Jonassen (1995) suggested that if an online educational environment is aligned with instructional intentions that utilize best practices for online instruction, then the technology tool becomes an effective element in the teaching process. If faculty members understand that teaching online can provide a sound educational opportunity and can enhance the learning experience in higher education, then they will value it as a teaching instrument.

However, McCullen (2002) agreed with Cuban and suggested simply teaching online will not provide an effective learning environment if the utilization of best practices is left out. For example, if faculty who teach online cannot connect adult learning techniques, critical thinking and classroom management skills to course content, then students may be less satisfied with their online courses and opportunities for learning may be missed. Without a focus on sound educational principles or best practices that are transferred to the online environment, learning online can induce a kind of cut and dried educational experience for learners that can actually undermine their ability to think on their own (McKenzie, 2000).

Furthermore, it has been suggested that teaching abilities and instructor preparation in the online teaching environment have been identified as contributing to dropout rates and students' frustrations with online courses (Carr-Chellman & Duchastel, 2000). Thus, a careful literature review and the recommendations for online learning from regional accrediting bodies, indicate a need for instructors to adapt their teaching methods to include certain best practices in the online teaching format. More precisely, the literature has come to represent the shift from teacher-centered instruction to learner-centered instruction in online education.

# **Statement of the Problem**

For the past decade, West Virginia higher education institutions have been delivering online education utilizing their own standards for quality online instruction. However, in recent years there has been an increase in the literature that focuses on the need for institutions to adopt a common set of best practice guidelines and standards.

It is important to note that faculty members are central players in this shift of instructional strategies and higher education must still be rigorous in providing quality educational opportunities to students. Highly effective instructional practices are and will continue to be faculty roles. Unfortunately, an extensive review of relevant literature indicates that modest research has been conducted in the realm of faculty experiences in quality online education, although much support and research has been gathered on student experiences in online instruction. Nevertheless, the effective use of technology requires collaboration between higher education stakeholders to provide quality practices and to produce quality online experiences (Anderson & Elloumim, 2004; CHEA, 1998; IHEP, 2000; McCullen, 2002).

Thus, it is necessary for universities to set the bar for quality online instruction and face the challenges within the realm of online education. West Virginia higher education needs to meet the rigorous guidelines of best practices set forth by the literature and the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study is to examine the extent to which West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect best practices, as identified by the literature, for teaching in an online educational environment. The identified best practices are: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. As previously stated the operational definitions for these best practices will be provided within this chapter.

#### **Research Question**

Based on these themes of best practices revealed by the literature review, the following research question will be addressed:

To what extent do West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect the following quality practices: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques?

#### **Operational Definitions**

After a review of the literature pertaining to best practices in online education, a blending of concepts emerged that are indicative of quality online educational environments. For the purpose of this study, the following definitions represent a merger of these concepts as delineated by the literature. This merger of concepts includes best practice guidelines set forth by the Council for Higher Education Accreditation (Benson, 2003), Chickering and Ehrmann's (1996) study and multiple other researchers that have suggested and studied best practices in online education.

- Online course environment: any course of study that is Internet based, utilizes tools that include content-based online instruction, provides meaningful online interactivity, and facilitates access in either an asynchronous or synchronous environment. This definition will also refer to online teaching environments as online environments, online education, virtual education, or virtual classroom as equivalent statements throughout the body of this paper.
- Faculty: West Virginia Higher Education Faculty, from 4 year institutions who teach online courses and participated in this study.
- 3. Support (Appendix A): refers to a blending of the following concepts from the literature review: (a) institutional support: The provision of policies and procedures, provided by the institution offering online education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Educational Practices, (b) faculty support: The provision of rewards, resources, and professional development training provided to faculty at an institution offering online educational Practices, (c) technological support: The provision of stable hardware, software support and timely responses to technical issues provided by staff and faculty at an institution offering online education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the support. The provision of stable hardware, software support and timely responses to technical issues provided by staff and faculty at an institution offering online education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the survey of the provision of stable hardware, software support and timely responses to technical issues provided by staff and faculty at an institution offering online education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Education as r
- 4. Collaboration and Teamwork (Appendix A): The collaborative efforts made by small or large faculty groups for the development and delivery of courses

online as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Educational Practices.

- 5. High Quality Online Teaching Practices (Appendix A): refers to a blending of the following concepts from the literature review: (a) flexibility: The ability of a faculty member to accept change and allow students to play a more significant role in their own learning. In addition, the ability of a faculty member to embrace the technology utilized to teach in an online environment and deal with sudden changes that often occur in an online environment as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Educational Practices; (b) feedback: Clearly defined response time parameters set by faculty members and informational and acknowledgement responses that are constructive, flexible, reflective and supportive as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Educational Practices; (c) assessment: The types of tools, rubrics, formative and summative guides that faculty utilize to grade or assess student learning in an online environment as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Educational Practices.
- 6. Adult learning techniques (Appendix A): The andragogical concepts that faculty utilize in order to teach in an online environment as represented by a score on the Survey of Online Educational Practices.

#### Significance of the Study

At the present time there is a lack of research that determines whether or not "best practices" are evident in the virtual classroom. Most studies of online courses demonstrate or focus on one or two possible approaches to successfully implement a set of best practices. Sunal, Sunal, Odell, and Sundberg (2003) suggest that only a handful of research studies on best practices in asynchronous or synchronous online instruction exist.

This study provides higher education institutions insight into the extent to which faculty are utilizing quality online practices in their online learning environments as defined by a comprehensive literature review. It will also provide information regarding gaps in faculty utilization of adult learning techniques in the development and delivery stages of online courses. This knowledge can provide faculty with focused opportunities to improve their collaborative skills, motivation to embrace online education, and strategies to improve their online courses.

This study also provides institutes of higher education benchmarks for high quality online instruction blended into online instruction. This can provide valuable information in the decision making process for institutional policies and procedures regarding the implementation of quality online education. Furthermore, this study can provide useful information to the faculty and the institution regarding the importance of the infrastructure, practices and continued support for the development and delivery of online education.

Additionally, the practical application of high quality online instructional strategies, as presented in this study, may improve practices and online learning experiences. This focus on improving the quality of the online experience for the student can achieve a dual goal: First, to distribute knowledge that educators can study and conceivably emulate, and second, to corroborate that online education can have a common set of best practices applicable across a myriad of disciplines. Finally, an

extensive review of relevant literature indicates modest research has been conducted in the realm of faculty experiences in quality online education, although much support and research has been gathered on student experiences in online instruction. This study adds to the body of knowledge by providing additional research in the area of faculty experiences in online education.

# Limitations of the Study

It is within reason to assume that limitations are present in this study. Assumptions are based on an extensive review of the literature that there are six general themes of quality online practices in online education, and these quality online practices may have a positive impact on meaning making for students. Furthermore, there is an assumption that participants are aware of these best practices through faculty development opportunities at their institutions. There is an assumption that participants will respond truthfully and without a prejudiced pre-disposition on the survey of best practices in online education.

One limitation of the study may be in the reliability and the validity of the survey. The survey instrument has been developed by the researcher based on a comprehensive literature review and adapted from Chickering and Ehrmann's (1996) "Implementing the Seven Principles: Technology as a Lever". The instrument may have potential limitations because self-analysis of teaching in an online environment may include bias on the part of the population participating in the survey. In other words, some respondents may adjust their responses to depict their institutions and themselves in a superior vein (Smith & Glass, 1987).

Another limitation of the study may be in the method of data collection. York (2003) suggested the inability to collect responses from the entire sample population and to verify the responses from the participants can represent a defect of the survey. Thus the number of surveys received must be 50% plus one or more to garner an effective statistical outcome from the sample population (Babbie, 1973). Additionally, Babbie stated that a return rate of 50% plus one provided an excellent rough view of the data with no statistical bias. In fact, Babbie found that a lack of response bias was far more important than a higher return rate.

Finally, another limitation of this study may be in its overall generalizability (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). Data will be collected from higher education faculty members who teach online courses in West Virginia. Data from this study should not be used to generalize to higher education faculty or other educators teaching in an online environment outside of West Virginia.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### **Literature Review**

The purpose of this chapter is to investigate existing literature that discusses best practices that are utilized for teaching in an online environment within the framework of distance education. Online learning environments are multifaceted, diverse and rapidly developing into the mainstream delivery vehicle for distance education (Taylor, 2004). Anderson and Elloumi (2004) suggested that higher education faculty members must be familiar with the collective pedagogical, economic, cultural and political characteristics of the online educational systems within which they participate. Accordingly, there is an abundance of literature that is related to teaching online, much of which points out the importance of preparing faculty in providing quality online education through best practices (Anderson & Kanuka, 2002; Clay, 1999; Palloff & Pratt, 2001; Schulte, 2002; Sherry & Morse, 1995; Simon, 2000; Sullivan, 1999; Taylor, 2004; White & Weight, 2000).

This chapter examines conflicting views of best practices in online teaching, followed by an aggregated review of best practices as described in the literature and a review of best practices as supported by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions (C-RAC, 2003). This review will provide a foundation for the analysis of the roles of the academic institution and instructor in an online environment. This chapter also provides an overview of literature pertaining to the emerging application of andragogy in online learning. Finally, this chapter reviews the development of the conceptual and useful best practices related to the online classroom and online instructor roles.

In early 2001 a statement of commitment by eight Regional Accrediting Commissions for the Evaluation of Electronically Offered Degree and Certificate Programs was adopted and aimed at the growing number of colleges and universities that were providing online course degree and certification programs (Benson, 2003). It is worth noting that as self-regulatory entities, these eight commissions worked collaboratively to produce broadly defined domains for best practices. The eight regional accrediting commissions referred to in this document are: (1) Commission on Higher Education, Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools; (2) Commission on Institutions of Higher Education, New England Association of Schools and Colleges; (3) Commission on Technical and Career Institutions, New England Association of Schools and Colleges; (4) Commission on Institutions of Higher Education, North Central Association of Colleges and Schools; (5) Commission on Colleges, The Northwest Association of Schools and Colleges; (6) Commission on Colleges, Southern Association of Colleges and Schools; (7) Accrediting Commission of Community and Junior Colleges, Western Association of Schools and Colleges; and (8) Accrediting Commission of Senior Colleges and Universities, Western Association of Schools and Colleges.

These eight regional commissions utilized mission-driven standards to define institutional quality and created a list of five domains in the evaluation of online learning. These domains included: (a) institutional context and commitment; (b) curriculum and instruction; (c) faculty support; (d) student support; and (e) evaluation and assessment. All eight accrediting commissions consider the domains of best practices for online education as "works in progress", due to the very nature of technological changes and institutions meeting and adapting to change. This flexible paradigm is appropriate because the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions (C-RAC) stated that it would be neither desirable nor possible for higher education institutions to develop settled definitions of best practices in online education (Benson, 2003).

# **The Online Learning Environment**

Husmann and Miller (2001) suggested that controversies abound concerning the quality of online education. These researchers implied that many people are distrustful of online education because courses are often taught by adjunct instructors and are offered by continuing education programs or educational institutions which are not accredited. Therefore, it is often found that online learning and online programs are outside of formal faculty structure and review for instructional quality (Gaud, 1999). Various opponents of online education have even recommended that online courses should be highly criticized because they lower the value of academic principles (Buck, 2001). Brown and Green (2003) have suggested that online education provides a "cash cow" to some universities. These institutions see online learning as a means to deliver instruction to a large number of paying customers without the overhead expenses of providing a physical space.

However, proponents of online education assert that offering online programs and courses may help schools expand their curricula offerings and develop graduates' technology skills and marketability (Donlevy, 2003). Furthermore, Rosie (2000) stated that online education can promote students' critical thinking skills, deep learning and collaborative learning. Donlevy also argued that online education helps students develop their problem-solving skills. In addition to the controversies surrounding quality online

teaching, Sunal et al. (2003) suggested that only a handful of research studies on best practices in asynchronous or synchronous online instruction exist, and many research based best practice studies had flaws in their research design.

For instance, Muirhead (2000) examined a few online courses offered in his academic institution of employment. From this he inferred there are several areas that must be revised when a course is committed to an online environment in higher education. Primarily, Muirhead supported a prerequisite of emotional support and instructional support for the student. Muirhead also suggested that faculty should not only author their own online courses, but they should maintain a full course load when teaching online classes. Finally, he stated that ongoing technological support must be available to students in order to support best practices in online teaching

#### Conflicting views of Best Practices

The literature reveals a plethora of ideas of "best practices" in online teaching. Chickering and Ehrmann (1996) suggested that any given instructional strategy can be supported by a multitude of divergent technologies and many technologies have numerous capabilities. Thus, they advised it would be misleading to consider there is only one set of best practices to utilize in an online teaching environment. Chickering and Ehrmann also stated that for any given instructional strategy, some technologies are better than others. For example, a course that is entirely text-based on the web may not work well in a counseling course while discussing interviews with clients. Conversely, an instructor that uses two-way video to actually demonstrate a live counseling or mock session in addition to web reflections and interactive instruction may provide a clearer and more meaningful experience to learners. Furthermore, White and Weight (2000)

implied that best practices are more than just practical tips on improving online communications and instructional skills. Best practices are used by reflective educators who are committed to using concepts, ideas, suggestions and tools to improve the quality of their own unique courses.

Indeed, Palmer (2000) in his forward to "One Hundred Forty Seven Practical Tips for Teaching Online Groups," suggested that the key to effective practices in online environments is to engage the learners actively. Palmer further suggested that best practices must use technology to engage the learner with the teacher, with the space, with each other and with the subject. However, Palmer advises that online learning is so new, there are no established effective practices developed through empirical studies.

Sunal et al. (2003) concurred with Palmer's view of the lack of established research studies on online best practices, and proposed a method to sample an overview of research supporting best practices for online learning. From this meta analysis of the research, one of their research questions was to determine whether legitimate guidelines could be developed for best practices in online environments. The researchers' findings concluded that despite the large volume of articles published, there was little summative evaluation of the methods used in the literature to support any single set of best practices. Sunal et al. also indicated, based on their research, no conclusion could be drawn to indicate one action was better than another. In addition, the Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education (WICHE, 2001) suggested that because of the rapidly changing pace of online education, faculty should consider that all "best practices" are "works in progress" and should be flexible with the changing needs of online environments.

However, Sunal et al. (2003) supported the view that suspected and potential variables should be considered as viable strategies or "best practices" in the consideration of online teaching. Furthermore, Sunal et al. concluded these potential best practices could be considered in creating a hypothesis-testing instrument to help determine more useful knowledge about best practices in online learning.

Another view of best practices in online education was presented by White and Bridwell (1998) who recommended the primary objective of all online educational providers should be effective planning and implementing of educational activities that promote learning and retention. White and Bridwell further suggested that within the realm of online courses, faculty must adopt methods and strategies which will engage the learner. White and Bridwell also discussed the need to enhance the techniques for online instruction, but provided little more than broad descriptions of how to engage a learner.

Further evidence of conflicting views of "best practices" in online teaching was provided by Deubel (2003) who considered best practices as the instructor's attitude, motivation, and true commitment to online course development and delivery. However, Deubel did not provide evidence that student achievement would take place if an instructor was motivated to teach an online course.

To discuss another aspect of the best practices in online teaching, Blum (1999) conducted an interpretive qualitative study that researched a traditional face-to-face course versus an asynchronous web course. Blum concluded that instructors needed to be aware of learning styles and gender differences within a web based course. For example, Blum indicated that females tended to communicate in a more personal manner and were more apt to help one another than their male counterparts.

In another view of best practices in online education, Boyer (2001) concluded that cooperative learning, student centered approaches, and active learning experiences are often the goal of higher education faculty, but due to factors such as technological phobias and inadequate training in the online experience, many online faculty members choose to return to their face-to-face teaching styles within an online environment. Boyer indicated that faculty members are providing greater specificity, stricter accountability measures and less student flexibility/personalization of learning in their online courses. Boyer lamented that due to students' appeal for clarity in online courses, faculty had created a more rigid structure within online teaching environments that virtually eliminated the benefits of online instruction.

Knowles, Holton, and Swanson (1998) suggested that utilizing a traditional approach that includes lecturing, testing and readings does not effectively accommodate any "best practices" of higher education or adult education which should promote engaged, active, and authentic learning experiences. Thus, Harvey (2002) recommended that best practices are important regardless of the delivery method of education. In addition, Harvey asserted that with the advent of online environments, faculty have the opportunity to explore innovative teaching strategies and "best practices" of online teaching to change the roles of the instructor and student.

Despite the fact that Chickering and Ehrmann (1996) indicated no one set of best practices existed for online education, these researchers stressed that if new technologies for teaching online are to be entirely appreciated, they advocated that the utilization of best practice principles would lead to a more effective online experience. In fact, this assertion is supported by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions that has
adopted a list of collaboratively developed best practices for online degree and certificate programs. The Council for Higher Education Accreditation (1998) suggested that online degree and certification programs demand a comprehensive and expansive expression of what is considered current best practices in online education. However, Benson (2003) stated that stakeholders in online education will always disagree on what constitutes best practices in online learning, but supported the need for standards of quality in online learning.

#### **Domains of Best Practices for Online Education**

Although there are many views of best practices and different methods to organize best practices into categories, there has been an important effort to articulate some common domains of best practices that the literature and eight regional accrediting bodies have recommended for reflection, discussion and implementation in online courses. These best practices have been aggregated, adapted, and advanced from stakeholders in the field of online teaching.

For example, Graham, Cagiltay, Craner, Lim and Duffy (2000) at Indiana University accepted and adapted Chickering and Gamson's (1987) "*Seven Principles for Good Practice in Undergraduate Education*" and applied them specifically to online education. Chickering and Gamson supported the view, based on their research that best practices in teaching online must have the following elements: (a) student-faculty feedback; (b) cooperation among students; (c) active learning; (d) prompt feedback; (e) time on task; (f) high expectations; and (g) respect for diverse talents and ways of learning. Therefore, Graham et al. utilized these seven principles and suggested specific expectations for faculty and applied their suggestions to the evaluation of four online

courses. These researchers concluded that those four courses had key strengths in encouraging active and diverse ways of learning. These key strengths were faculty and student interaction, faculty's knowledge of the subject, clearly articulated course goals, and overall availability of the online course. However, Graham et. al.'s study also concluded improvement was required in cooperative learning among students and additional attention was required for prompt feedback from faculty.

The Western Cooperative for Educational Telecommunications (WCET) in conjunction with the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions (C-RAC) also developed a list of quality online practices that is supported by eight regional accrediting commissions (Benson, 2003). These accrediting agencies had responded to the growing need for standards by adopting and providing higher educational institutions with five separate components deemed as quality online practices in online education. According to C-RAC (2003), these quality online practices constitute a common perception of elements which reflect quality distance education programs. These standards included institutional commitment, student support, faculty support, curriculum and instruction, and evaluation and assessment. As the literature suggests none of these quality online practices are new, but they are now being accepted, supported and standardized by many regional accrediting bodies.

For the purpose of this study, the following quality online practices have been extracted from the literature review for discussion and reflection: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. These quality online practices are ordered to move along a continuum from institutional support to faculty practices. The following reviews each of these quality online practices in detail addressing characteristics and the research that supports their use in this study.

#### **Best Practices in Online Education**

After a review of the literature pertaining to high quality practices in online education, a blending of concepts emerged that are indicative of quality online educational environments. For the purpose of this study, the following practices represent a merger of these concepts as delineated by the literature.

# Support

In reference to online learning, an examination of support reveals a grouping of three distinct but interrelated concepts from the literature review, these are: (a) institutional support: the provision of policies and procedures provided by the institution offering online education; (b) faculty support: the provision of rewards, resources, and professional development provided to faculty at an institution offering online education; (c) technological support: the provision of stable hardware, software support and timely responses to technical issues provided by staff and faculty at an institution offering online education.

Thus, for the purposes of this research, the term support refers to the combination of institutional, faculty and technological support systems considered necessary to provide high quality online practices in online education. In addition, collaboration within teams will be folded into the initial discussion of the domain of support, because institutional, faculty and technological support systems are key elements necessary in the development and delivery of online course material. Thus, collaboration within teams refers to the collaborative efforts made by small or large groups of faculty for the development and delivery of courses online.

*Institutional Support.* In 2000 the IHEP asserted that higher education institutions needed to undergo a change in order to achieve higher standards. This included revisions of policies, procedures, rewards, resources, and training provided by the institution offering online education. In addition, the IHEP (2000) recommended that technological support must be provided, including stable hardware, software support and timely responses to technical issues. Prior to the recommendations by the IHEP, in 1998 Henderson, in his paper *The Components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet*, pointed out that higher education is not alone in the world of online learning.

Henderson (1998) asserted that driven by demand and the vast power of the Internet, high stakes and competition for online educational presence are forcing higher education institutes to rethink their presence in online education and begin to provide tools, best practice standards and methods for online course delivery. Henderson further asserted that even though private industry had their hands deep in the pockets of online education, higher education had the long-term energy and adaptability to build an infrastructure of distributed online education. Henderson also stated that unlike private industry, higher education has the inherent commitment to the advancement of knowledge.

In 2005 the Sloan Consortium indicated that approximately one-half of public institutions rated online education as important in their long-term strategies for growth. This statistic grew from 49% in 2003 to 56% in 2005. In addition, the Sloan Consortium reported that online courses have become more pervasive within higher education. The

Sloan Consortium (2005), argued that over 62% of all undergraduate courses now have an equivalent online course. These statistics are more dramatic among doctoral granting institutions and schools with smaller enrollments, where up to 79% of all courses are being offered online. Thus, institutions once dubious about the growth of online education observe there is a greater penetration of online courses into degree programs as well as non-degree course offerings.

Anderson and Elloumi (2004) suggested that online education is more akin to distributed education, not simply distance education. This implies that institutions should rethink the strict traditional model of learners in online learning. Distributed education can signify not only learners taking online courses at any place, or at any time, but it also implies that a learner can receive an education at any point in their lifetime. This could impel institutions to rethink the idea of life-long learning as one of the driving forces of online course delivery. Anderson and Elloumi further proposed that if online education is to be thought of as distributed education, then one of the best practices that can improve the quality of online learning is to consider that the delivery methods be a center for collaboration and support.

One institution that agrees with the domain of support is the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign (UIUC). In fact, Huber and Lowry (2003) contend that it was visibly apparent during their contact with the online learning environment of UIUC, that the university utilized a set of polices and guidelines that provided a high standard of communication, cooperation and teambuilding with technical staff and faculty of the university. Their online programs were organized around learning cohorts and appeared to work within an environment where learning professionals, both faculty and staff, were actively and cooperatively involved with the creation and delivery of instructional programs.

The Western Cooperative for Educational Telecommunications (WCET) in conjunction with the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions (C-RAC) suggested that institutions needed to look at several items within the context of institutional, faculty, and student support in online education. They asserted that an institution needed to ensure that online education met the needs of its stated mission and objectives and that an institution's budgets and policy statements reflected its commitment to its online programs (Benson, 2003).

Law, Hawkes and Murphy (2003) asserted that beyond budgetary considerations, institutions must have the internal organizational structure in place to provide for the oversight, including academic oversight, of quality in online delivery and instruction. Law, Hawkes and Murphy further stressed that quality curriculum and delivery, rather than cost concerns for technology implementation, should drive the implementation of online educational programs.

Furthermore, C-RAC and the WCET suggested all involved parties including faculty, technological staff and the institution, need to consider the issues of workload, compensation, ownership of intellectual property and all parties must come to a mutual understanding and adoption of these policies. One method to ensure proper understanding of institutional policies is to embed them in internal professional developmental workshops and provide faculty support (Rumble, 1999).

Regarding the issue of workload, one institution assessed the impact of online courses on faculty workload and found no significant difference between the limited

number of online courses they offered and the face-to-face courses they reviewed (Gaud, 1999). However, in 2005 new evidence suggested that little more than 50% of higher education faculty deemed that workload remains the same from those institutions which have online offerings. It appears that over one third of online faculty today consider teaching online requires additional time and effort in their workload (Sloan Consortium, 2005).

In fact, faculty time and compensation issues were rated as the greatest barriers for teaching online in a survey conducted by Schifter in 2000. Schifter (2000) suggested that there is evidence to support the relationship between an organizations level of support in compensation and time and the lack of clearly defined polices in relation to the desire for faculty to teach online.

*Faculty Support.* Benson (2003) stated that faculty roles that are associated with online education called for special attention in order to provide quality online instruction. Benson suggested that best practices, regarding faculty support, are the straightforward ones, such as the institution's provisions for orientation and training in technologies, and training and mentoring programs for strategies for effective interactions in online delivery. In fact, Garrett and Vogt (2003) asserted that higher education organizations can increase participation and satisfaction in online learning by providing faculty and instructors release time during working hours to train in the use of new hardware and to work with others in the development of course materials. Garrett & Vogt further suggested that if institutions supported faculty in professional development opportunities, and supported greater compensation and incentives for teaching online, then faculty would be further satisfied with online education.

The Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools (HLC, 2000) also suggested that institutions must understand the regulatory and legal requirements to participate in online education. For instance, institutions should provide appropriate copyright laws and training to faculty and staff. Academic organizations should also comply with federal and state requirements to provide services to online students with disabilities. In addition, Law, Hawkes, and Murphy (2003) stress that intellectual property of faculty who create online courses must now conform to new guidelines set forth by their institutions and some institutions may require faculty to sign agreements related to their rights to the content and or development of their online courses.

In regard to other elements of faculty support, Lorenzo (2004) recommended that institutions must foster the idea of collaboration between faculty in their course delivery. Lorenzo stated that the process of online education must allow for faculty to become creators of online curriculum as well as consumers of knowledge. Lorenzo further indicated that faculty must be given the opportunities for ongoing professional development in order to become proficient in the uses of online technologies. In fact, because faculty are often accustomed to being the experts in their courses, the fear of appearing incompetent may cause faculty to resist teaching online. Faculty may feel that they have not been provided with adequate training or experience to competently teach online. Thus, Lorenzo indicated that if institutions supported the experiences of faculty mentoring programs with veteran online faculty or created supportive user groups to foster online learning between faculty, then faculty would have a greater desire to teach and develop online courses. Benson (2003) stated that the Western Cooperative for Educational

Telecommunications (WCET) and the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions (C-RAC) further argued the need for ongoing professional development, and supported opportunities for faculty to discuss and discover new strategies for the delivery of online courses. Furthermore, Henderson (1998) quickly pointed out that institutions should provide ongoing professional development opportunities to learn new technologies and insisted that the use of online technologies should not become barriers to the learning process.

Bower (2001) also recommended that institutions need to review faculty workload, salary, promotion, and tenure issues when reflecting on faculty support. For example, even though faculty may require a greater investment of time and energy to create an engaging virtual course, traditionally faculty are compensated for their online development and delivery as if it were a normal course.

Furthermore, tenure is awarded by accomplishing an approved balance of research, service work, and teaching. If time is not allotted for faculty to develop their online courses and training to use the online learning delivery software, then faculty may not have the time to spend on other professional activities needed to be successful in the tenure process (Betts, 1998). This issue is acutely important for faculty at research universities that face a higher degree of expectations in research and publication. Thus, the added time pressure becomes a barrier to teaching online (Bower, 2001).

Anderson and Kanuka (2002) also stated that institutions that utilized the incentive of workload adjustments, or release time for faculty to prepare their online courses, improved the quality of their online experience. Bower (2001) lamented that the

challenge to give significant time to deliver and develop online courses and still provide an equal experience to a face to face class was daunting. Thus Anderson (1998) asserted that faculty must have the full support of their institution when teaching online.

*Technological Support.* Although professors can utilize the support from the viewpoint of the institution, many professors find it extremely difficult to navigate the myriad of technological hardware and software to effectively teach in an online environment. Brown and Green (2003) suggested that faculty continued to question if the money and time invested in technology is spent on adequate ongoing training for all those involved in the creation and delivery of online educational environments. The WCET also affirmed that an institution needed to address the adequacy of technical and physical facilities, which included the appropriate staffing and technical support to assist with online programs. The New England Association of Schools and Colleges (HLC, 2000) further pointed out the need for consistent and coherent technical framework for students and faculty to utilize and that an institution needed to provide students and faculty with reasonable technical support for every educational technology hardware, software and delivery system that it used in online education.

The Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (HLC, 2000) in conjunction with the WCET stated that institutions need to be aware of the limitations regarding differing technologies. For example, many students may not have up-to-date software or hardware capabilities required to successfully navigate through any given online course. In addition, rising costs may prohibit faculty and students from keeping up with new delivery platforms such as server hardware, video tools, and current software programs.

Caplan (2004) also recommended that technological support should always be available, and that technological hardware should be standardized, interoperable, and simple to use for faculty and students. Caplan (2004) regarded these concepts of technology support as the provision of best practices that will allow the users of online learning to have meaningful positive experiences. Twigg (2001) further discussed that technological support must be on-going because technology is always in flux and that online educational support should always be aware of, and plan for new modes and methods of online course delivery. Twigg stated that professional development was a critical component in technological support in order to provide meaningful dialogue between the creators, supporters and course delivery users.

Taylor (2004) insisted that although online education is not new, the seriousness of issues related to technological support and institutional support must be fully addressed before an online environment is started. Taylor maintained that best practice standards in technological and institutional support, could provide positive learning experiences for both the student and faculty members.

However, Hanna et al. (2000) declared that although an institution needed to provide technological support, it was also up to the faculty member or anyone else responsible for the implementation and delivery of online courses to become familiar with the technology resources available within their institution. Hanna et al. further suggested that many universities and organizations provide twenty-four hour a day support, and provide professional development opportunities for educators. Thus, it is also up to the faculty member to take advantage of professional developmental opportunities.

# **Collaboration and Teamwork**

Another critical element in the realm of support systems that will create a successful online learning experience is collaboration and teamwork (Anderson & Elloumi, 2004). Collaboration and teamwork can be manifested in different forms depending on the goals and objectives for any given online course. However, for the purpose of this study, collaboration is defined as the efforts made by small or large groups for the development and delivery of courses online.

For example, initial collaborative efforts can be among faculty within the same discipline working together to develop online content. In another instance, collaboration could be partnerships and teamwork between faculty and students, in the creation and development of online course content. Another form of collaboration may occur when faculty members from different disciplines participate in the development of a course or course modules by contributing their individual expertise in a specialized area. For example, faculty can collaborate on the evaluation of online resources or Web design within a Learning Management System (LMS – i.e. WebCT, Sakai, Desire to Learn) for a best fit in an online course, or the design and development of online course content (Anderson & Elloumi, 2004).

*Faculty Mentoring in Online Education*. Lorenzo (2004) suggested that one of the best methods to increase faculty satisfaction for online teaching is the allowance of faculty collaborative efforts for course development. Lorenzo argued that it was critical for veteran online faculty to share their online teaching experiences with faculty who are just entering the realm of online teaching to increase quality online teaching practices. Caplan (2004) also argued that researchers often voice the fact that if online faculty are

mentored by veteran online instructors, then faculty can create a valuable partnership that will help to avert mere replication of face to face instruction in online education. Caplan further suggested that all online faculty mentoring should instill a supportive culture of values, beliefs and processes that facilitate open dialogue.

In fact, Kidney and Puckett (2003) stated that if faculty designed their work in a vacuum and without collaboration, then from an instructional design perspective, there would be a poor match between the available features of online course development tools used to engage learners with content. Kidney and Puckett also suggested that with collaborative investment in a course the activities and appropriate instructional strategies could be realized to match the intended learning expectations. Thus, through a collaborative process a deeper understanding of design and delivery could be grasped to help further create, analyze and revise a course to better meet the instructional and online learner needs.

Brown, Myers and Roy (2003) argued that without a team or mentored approach to online course development an institution may run the risk of creating text-based online courses that are often artificial and offer sub-standard online instruction. Unfortunately, there are numerous examples of poor andragogical application of online teaching out on the Web. The multitude of such poor examples of online text-based courses is partially due to the fact that faculty still consider online teaching a novelty, and that online instruction is inferior to face to face instruction (Caplan, 2004). However, one method to address concerns about inferior online andragogy is to create standards that will apply to the development of instruction that will include reciprocity and cooperation among faculty in the development and planning for teaching an online course. In fact, Harvey

(2002) recommended that faculty who worked together in the implementation and delivery of online courses were far more likely to have a successful experience and feel more satisfied with the framework of their course.

*Collaborative Development*. To further support the idea of cooperation, the Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education (WICHE, 2001) suggested that one of the best practices an institution must provide to its staff is appropriate support and training required to teach in an online environment. If faculty can agree that online course development requires training, and if they are willing to admit that the development process can be a complex endeavor, then it may be reasonable to believe that a high quality online course can be created through a collaborative effort (Caplan, 2004).

In addition, Hanna et al. (2000) argued that the concept of collaboration and team membership was important because it helped online faculty to plan, design, and implement online courses. In reality, according to Hanna et al., the very nature of online learning should embrace collaborative preparation and delivery, because the instructional design should be constructivist in its formation.

In fact, Benson (2003) asserted that collaborative development between stakeholders in the development and delivery of online educational programs is strongly supported by the Council on Higher Education Accreditation. Additionally, the Council on Higher Education Accreditation stated that building on a well established tradition of cooperation among faculty, staff and other stakeholders will help to achieve commonly held goals of assuring the quality of academic offerings regardless of the medium of their delivery (Benson). Caplan (2004) further suggested that the core of an online course development team may consist of as few as five key roles: (a) the content expert, (b) the graphic designer, (c) the Web developer, (d) the programmer, and (e) the instructional designer. However, with many universities using off the shelf online teaching applications and tight budget constraints, it is reasonable to assume that some of these roles may not be necessary, and only a few people will fulfill most of the roles. Thus a mentoring program or small group collaborative effort to produce and instruct an online course may be appropriate.

However, Fein and Logan (2003) cautioned that without the benefit of collaboration and mentoring after a course has been developed and delivered, many faculty members allow their online courses to decay into the "in-the-can" syndrome. Fein and Logan defined this "in-the-can" syndrome as a faculty member allowing a course to remain unchanged over a long period of time. They suggested this is a major challenge for online faculty and stated that it is effortless for an online instructor to fail to revisit their online content and materials. Fein and Logan also declared that as assignment responses and entries are stored and recorded over time, it is simple for instructors to simply change assignment due dates and teach the online course over again without revision or retooling.

However, if co-authoring of a course, team teaching, mentoring or collaboration are consistently used over time in the deployment of online courses, then faculty can avoid the pitfalls of "in-the can" syndrome. Collaborative efforts will provide faculty with the ability to evaluate their online courses often and make adjustments to the learning content each time it is taught, thus reducing the negative impact of "in-the-can"

syndrome (Fein & Logan, 2003). In fact Johnson and Aragon (2003) claimed that in order to create quality content and assessments it is often a best practice for faculty to be flexible enough to allow other online stakeholders to review and help retool online content in order to keep content from growing stale.

#### **Quality Online Teaching Practices**

Another collection of recurring themes gained from a review of the literature of online education are specific online teaching practices which are as follows: (a) flexibility: the ability of a faculty member to accept change and allow students to play a more significant role in their own learning and embrace technology utilized to teach in an online environment and deal with sudden changes that often occur in an online environment; (b) feedback: clearly defined response time parameters set by faculty members and informational and acknowledgement responses that are constructive, flexible, reflective and supportive; and (c) assessment: the types of tools, rubrics, formative and summative guides that faculty utilize to grade or assess student learning in an online environment.

## Flexibility

For the purpose of this study, flexibility will be described as the ability of a faculty member to accept change and allow students to play a significant role in their own learning. In addition, the ability of a faculty member to embrace the technology utilized to teach in an online environment and deal with the sudden changes that often occur in an online environment. Hoostein (2002) suggested when unforeseen interruptions were handled correctly by a faculty member; the flow of information from faculty to student will not be hindered.

*Consistent Flow of Information.* If the flow of information is smooth, the online course becomes more transparent to the student and the real purpose of course delivery and learning can take place. Hoostein (2002) further indicated that often unforeseeable events can occur with technology ranging from down servers and inability to connect to the Internet to incompatible software. Thus, Hoostein declared that faculty should prepare in advance, during the design phase of a course, to contend with technological problems, if needed, when the content is delivered.

In addition, Fein and Logan (2003) suggested that being a flexible instructor, allowed students to foster a greater trusting relationship with their faculty member. For instance, faculty who allow students to submit assignments in different software or allow students different delivery methods when the "requested" method is not functioning might make students feel less anxious (Fein & Logan).

Hanna et al. (2000) also affirmed that in order to gain trust and leverage in an online learning environment, faculty should continually assess their course effectiveness and be willing to change their selected instructional methods, media and materials in order to help students learn and be less anxious about their online learning experiences. Furthermore, Hanna et al. concluded if faculty had an appropriate amount of interactions built into an online course in the design phase of the course, then faculty would have a greater opportunity to deal with unforeseen problems if they should arise. In fact, Benson (2003) stated that the Council on Higher Education Accreditation insisted that an important best practice in online education is for the inclusion of appropriate amounts of interaction (synchronous or asynchronous) in the design of an online program, prior to its delivery.

*Flexibility with student involvement*. Huber and Lowry (2003) had recommended that faculty members must be open and flexible toward online learners. In other words, Huber and Lowry suggested that working professionals often make coursework second place to the demands of their jobs and family. Therefore, an understanding online faculty member needed to make the most of these difficult situations and provide greater flexibility with deadlines for assignments and coursework. They also supported the need to allow students to bring their own practical real world experiences into online discussions and formative assessments, thus allowing students to become a valuable resource and a greater participant in the online experience.

Allowing students to become more involved is seen by many faculty as a shift in education from a transmission model of education towards a constructivist model that exploits computer mediated communication (Rumble, 1999). This change creates a new domain for collaborative learning (Harasim, 1989). As Harasim asserted, with the advent of online education, lecture bound instructors should become more flexible to instructional delivery. Rumble (2001) further suggested that with the use of new technologies, online learners have the capacity for greater independence with powerful computing tools for independent learning.

In other words, Rumble (2001) suggested that online learners could bring their own real world experiences into online learning and gain from the powerful examples derived from those interactions. Furthermore, Hiss (2000) stated that students can often be more informed about a particular subject matter than the faculty member who is teaching a course and as a "best practice" faculty should not feel threatened, and be

flexible enough to allow the student to bring their wealth of knowledge and experiences to the online class.

Hanna et al. (2000) also suggested creating a flexible framework for an online course and utilizing topic-driven assignments that feature exploration and interactivity of content. Hanna et al. further stated that providing flexibility in a syllabus will likely induce students to become more involved in their own understanding of the online learning outcomes. In actuality, the ability to create a flexible online framework and syllabus and the ability to "revise" an online course as necessary, can motivate faculty to move away from a linear module design of a course to a more engaged model (Kidney & Puckett, 2003). Furthermore, Kidney and Puckett state that the ability to be flexible and retool a course will allow online learners to ultimately share new challenges, interactivities and opportunities for success.

In addition, Huber and Lowry (2003) suggested that faculty should be flexible enough to accept feedback from students in order to help retool or refine their online course. Huber and Lowry stated that enabling students to give their own experiences and prompt them for feedback related to the design and implementation of a course could help to set up a positive co-learning experience with online students and make them feel more connected to their course.

# Feedback

Teaching online can be extremely complex and challenging. Thus, studies of quality online practices can provide an appropriate perspective that can assist faculty members with providing effective methods of instruction. In 2002 the Sloan Consortium addressed feedback and interaction between faculty and students as one of the important factors in quality online teaching. For the purpose of this study, feedback refers to clearly defined response time parameters set by faculty members and informational and acknowledgement responses that are constructive, flexible, reflective and supportive.

The Sloan Consortium (2002) insisted that feedback, at the onset, had to be timely and adaptable to change. The Sloan Consortium also concluded that feedback and interaction in an online environment can provide students with the opportunity to build on previous knowledge, to negotiate meaning, and to act as a measure of social presence. Indeed, Swan et al. (2000) suggested that the more course assessment was focused on discussion and feedback from the instructor, the greater students and faculty were satisfied with their online courses.

*Clarity of Feedback.* Collison, Elbaum, Haavind, and Tinker (2000) suggested that addressing feedback was one of the keys to faculty/student satisfaction and learning online. Salmon (2000) recommended that faculty needed to provide clear organization, guidelines and appropriate etiquette in the use of online feedback. In fact, to support the need for clarity in feedback, Achtemeier, Morris and Finnegan (2003) elaborated on the theme of feedback by emphasizing the need for faculty members to clearly establish and communicate their email response policy to students. Achtemerier et. al. proposed that since students have the capability to email faculty anytime from anywhere, students will begin to feel overlooked if they do not receive responses immediately. Therefore, the researchers concluded that it is critical in quality online instruction for faculty to clarify expectations for responses and these should be established at the onset of an online course and within the syllabus.

*Reflective and Flexible Feedback.* Conway (2003) suggested that without clarity and prompt feedback there is no real interaction, and without it, students do not sense they exist in an online course. However, Fein and Logan (2003) stated that if faculty utilized reflection and waited to think about a response to a student's inquiry prior to making an immediate response, perhaps a more meaningful dialogue might open up between faculty and the student. In fact, Berge (2000) suggested that if faculty provided clear online feedback, there may be real advantages of online synchronous and asynchronous communication over face to face communication. For example, with clear feedback students who normally may not speak up in class will find it more comfortable to honestly share their thoughts and questions in an online environment.

Initially, Berge (2000) suggested that feedback should be flexible and that students should be able to access the course at anytime. Hoostein (2002) defined flexible feedback as the ability for an instructor to make changes quickly and to make feedback adaptable to change, based on new information related to the purposes and tasks to which instruction is applied. Furthermore, Berge also indicated that feedback should be reflective and that students and faculty required time to digest and think about what had been written. Berge insisted that feedback should be student-centered and proposed that students related more directly with an instructor who discussed, reflected and posed questions.

*Promptness of Feedback.* In addition to Berge's (2000) suggestions, Chickering and Ehrmann (1996) found that without prompt feedback students tended to feel isolated and disconnected from their class. Therefore, Chickering and Ehrmann indicated that clearly defined feedback at appropriate times results in a high degree of student

satisfaction. Indeed, one of the best practices as stated by the Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education (WICHE, 2001), which has been adopted by eight regional accrediting bodies, insisted that response to students must be timely and interaction must be assured between faculty and students.

Bransford, Brown, and Cocking (1999) suggested that within the realm of online feedback, students needed to know when, where and how to use the knowledge that they are gaining. In addition, Newberry (2001) insisted that feedback must be timely, because timely feedback is valuable for the establishment of social presence in an online environment. Thus, Aragon (2003) argued that online feedback should follow within twenty-four hours after a student had requested a response, unless otherwise stated in the syllabus. Aragon asserted that online learners needed to feel that their messages are valued by the instructor of the course and that their messages should have the same amount of priority as any other message.

*Balance of Feedback.* Consequently, in setting the expectations for feedback in an online course, it may be possible to keep from over-communicating with students. Hacker and Niederhauser (2000) have argued that too much feedback can actually hamper online learning. For example, if online students are overly coddled, Hacker and Niederhauser implied that students may just wait for the "correct answers" or "prompts" rather than maximizing their own individual efforts. Hacker and Niederhauser further advocated that, along with the effective use of communication, if response time parameters were set for online feedback at the beginning of an online course and within the syllabus, students may not become overzealous in their communication and still receive the encouragement and satisfaction they required for real meaning to occur.

*Feedback and Redundancy.* White and Weight (2000) suggested that beyond setting guidelines and deadlines for communication, it is often important to consider some amount of redundancy. For instance, the occasional reminder to students when assignments are due can be effective when students are attending an online class and do not have the "perfect" memory when due dates occur. In addition, Bransford et al. (1999) suggested that repetition of elements within the content area should be included in dialogue with students in order to promote clarity and understanding. To further promote understanding, Swan et al. (2000) stated that if learning objectives are repeated to students often and faculty clearly remind students of these objectives, then students will be more satisfied with their online courses.

*Constructive and Supportive Feedback.* Depree (1998) suggested that feedback needs not only clarity, reasonable time parameters and redundancy, but it needs to be constructive and supportive. Constructive online feedback encourages students to actively identify their strengths and weaknesses while providing a climate that encourages growth. Depree further suggested that carefully crafting responses to students' assignments allows the student to consider alternative solutions and enhances their critical thinking.

*Summative and Formative Feedback.* Schwartz and White (2000) further defined feedback and made a distinction between various types of feedback. They suggested that feedback should be both summative and formative. Summative feedback can provide students with information about their course, or provide information or responses on accomplished tasks. Summative feedback often provides students guidance concerning where they are in the course and how they are progressing. Schwartz and White contend

that formative feedback may influence behavior or thoughts and can best be defined as primarily motivational. This type of feedback is ongoing and creates an atmosphere of participation. Formative feedback can help students stay on task and modify their approach or direction when necessary on an assignment or task.

Furthermore, Schwartz and White (2000) argued that utilizing both summative and formative feedback allows the instructor to provide a bidirectional flow of communication that helps students shape their own learning and fulfill the expectations or outcomes of the course. Regardless if feedback is summative or formative, the Council for Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA, 1998) stated that institutions should recognize that a sense of community is important to the success of many students and that an ongoing dialogue is beneficial to students. Thus, CHEA strongly urged as a best practice in online learning, that faculty provide realistic and appropriate interaction, either synchronous or asynchronous, between instructor and students and among students. CHEA further stated that feedback and interaction should be reflected in the design of the course or program as well (Benson, 2003).

Collison et al. (2000) suggested that faculty who use the characteristics of formative and summative feedback should consider the types of online dialogue that may occur. For example, online feedback may have argumentative, pragmatic or social components. Argumentative online feedback does not necessarily have to be negative; it can allow or challenge students to move beyond a discussion, to honor multiple perspectives on a specific idea or topic, and to reexamine their own ideas to seek deeper meaning and outcomes.

*Social Feedback.* According to Swan (2002), online social feedback does not necessarily have to be benign in nature. In fact, according to Collison et al. (2000), social feedback allowed students to get to know their faculty and fellow students. Social feedback also fosters a more personal dimension to online classes. Swan stated that creating some form of social presence is critical in an online environment and helps students feel less isolated. Additionally, Swan suggested that another form of social feedback is pragmatic feedback, which often requires a specific goal and is limited in scope and time. The goal of pragmatic feedback is not to persuade but to spark inquiry and to inform collective participants or individuals of various approaches to whatever subject matter is being discussed.

These various forms or characteristics of online feedback can distinguish themselves to help sculpt the learning process. Certainly the argument can be made that any kind of feedback in online education is not the same as verbal communication. However, it is important to remember that faculty who are teaching in an online environment should strive to provide an equivalent experience, not an equal experience to face to face instruction (Berge, 1998). Berge stated that online feedback can contribute to a positive experience in online teaching. If feedback is both formative and summative and provides both constructive and supportive processes along with clearly defined response times, the literature indicates that feedback can be one form of quality online best practices that can be a catalyst for learning in online education.

## Assessment

It cannot be overstated that online education has had a profound effect on the way that faculty present their courses to students. Higher education faculty consistently need answers in the methods to grade students' work online. Furthermore, higher education faculty need to understand the different techniques in which assessment can be delivered. For the purpose of this study the term assessment will be utilized to discuss the types of tools, rubrics, formative and summative guides that faculty utilize to grade or assess student learning in an online environment. This section will also address how learning theory can be bound to online assessment.

*Online Assessment and Theoretical Underpinnings.* Proponents of online education assert that faculty already include educational theory into online learning experiences by assuming the interaction among students and with faculty promote active learning or deep learning (Marchese, 1997). However, Green (1999) stated that online learning has yet to transform classroom instruction and that while online education does change the learning experience, there is little evidence that academic achievement has been enhanced. Thus, in considering assessment, Speck (2002) concluded that whatever educational theory was applied to any given online course, assessment must not become a separate entity of the theoretical underpinnings. Simply stated, the theory of assessment presumes and informs a theory of learning.

*Traditional and Alternative Paradigms.* According to Speck (2002), professors who teach in online environments face the same dilemma, regarding how to assess students online that face-to-face professors encounter regarding assessment in a traditional classroom. Speck suggested that all classrooms, virtual or otherwise, should approach assessment with a "coherent theory of learning." Speck, challenged the notion that good teaching and assessment is based on "craft knowledge." Speck asserted that "craft knowledge" is the expertise that faculty bring to their course regarding a particular

subject matter. He supported the idea that professors should consider the approach to online assessment in a cohesive learning-teaching-assessment paradigm.

Speck (2002) regretted the fact that the complicated disagreements among experts about the nature of learning and how learning should be assessed fuels many professors' loyalty to "craft knowledge" of assessment in an online environment. Speck suggested professors rely on their face-to-face teaching success and often overestimate their abilities to teach online. Speck postulated this is often due to restrictions in time requirements; and faculty simply rely on what they "know" that works in the face-to-face classroom.

In 1998 Anderson suggested two major competing paradigms of learning, regarding teaching and assessment. The paradigms were compared on nine different points of reference, based on their theoretical underpinnings and their philosophical ideals. Anderson (1998) referred to them as the traditional and the alternative paradigm. In her critique of these different paradigms, Anderson asserted professors who used the traditional paradigm, could assume that the purpose of evaluation is to document learning. Anderson implied that within the traditional paradigm, students were seen as *tabla rasa*, or blank slates that need to be filled with information and students could then demonstrate their retention of information by answering test questions correctly. Bloom (1956), labeled the concept that students are solely recipients of knowledge as surface learning and does not reach the active or deep levels of learning. Thus, a criticism has evolved in assessment of online courses that only engage in predominantly surface learning and "test" taking, which is promoted by traditional assessment methods.

Anderson (1998) proposed that the alternative paradigm promotes the use of writing skills and active learning to engage students in higher order thinking skills, such as synthesis, analysis and evaluation. However, Anderson also suggested that such forms of assessment often do not give uniform results and therefore can be more difficult to prepare and evaluate. For example, in the traditional approach, assessment can take the form of standardized norm-based tests that define learning in terms of "right" and "wrong" answers. Learning is assumed to be objective. If tests can be deemed reliable and valid, then the test "score" indicates an online student has learned the material.

On the other hand, Anderson (1998) stated that the alternative model can put a heavy emphasis on the context of learning within a class. In this model learning is linked to multiple learning situations, real world scenarios, and can have a preference to criterion-referenced assessments. The alternative model perceives students as inquirers of knowledge, not receptacles of information.

*Elements of Quality Online Assessments.* Johnson and Aragon (2003) insisted that in order to meet the challenge for properly assessing students in an online environment, faculty and instructional designers must match the philosophy of teaching and learning that is applicable to the goals and objectives being taught online. Thus, Johnson and Aragon implied the traditional paradigm should not always be thrown out in favor of the alternative model. They argued that assessment should always be based on the desired learning goals and instructional methods matching the appropriate learning theory.

For example, social learning theory could be incorporated in assessment by utilizing group interaction, peer review and personal feedback. In addition behavioral learning theory could be used in assessment methods by creating positive reinforcement and using repetitive tools to further expand the desired learning goal.

*Rule-of-Seven and Chunking.* Johnson (1997) also suggested that when reflecting on assessing students in an online environment, that a best practice could be using cognitive and constructivist learning theories and employing assessments that address multiple senses, "chunking" information and building on previous lessons in motivating ways. Clement (1985) stated that most adults can manage about seven "portions" of information at one time and that any more information overloads short-term memory. Thus, Clement suggested that the "rule of seven" should apply to instructional design. This "rule of seven" applied to creating instructional content into small groups, or no more than seven pieces of content at one assignment. Clement suggested this gives students the opportunity to learn each "chunk" of information thoroughly before being presented with new information.

*Reflective and Collaborative.* Johnson and Aragon (2003) claimed that in order to create quality assessments, the following elements should be included: hands-on activities, address individual differences, reflection, interaction, repetition, collaboration, positive feedback and the avoidance of information overload. Johnson and Aragon stated that all of these components were critical in providing positive online learning experiences.

Clark (1999) also suggested that assessment online should be reflective, such as the use of journaling, online diaries, and reflective writing assignments. Clark recommended journaling as a continuous reflection both for the student and the instructor. Johnson (1997) asserted that online courses should provide assessments that

provide active learning experiences, such as project work, small-group work, discussions, decision making and problem solving. Johnson declared that active learning assessments online provided sustained thinking over a period of time and reached higher order thinking.

Branzburg (2001) stated that if active learning assessments were used, then online course effectiveness can be monitored by the success rate of students with problem solving, discussions and group work. Branzburg concluded that if a single summative assessment is used, such as a final exam, then faculty might not have an accurate indication of how effective an online course can be. However, careful monitoring and formative assessments, such as discussions and group work, might help to pinpoint where an online course succeeds and where it fails. Nevertheless, Selfe (1999) stated that the central function of online assessment is not to prove whether or not teaching and learning have taken place, but to improve the quality of teaching and learning and to increase the likelihood that all members of society will acquire a full and critical literacy.

Mills (2002) believed that assessment, if used properly, could provide both literacy and improved learning. Mills asserted that online educational content and assessment required variation, creativity and needed to address the different learning styles of online students. In addition to creativity and variations to content, De Simone, Schmid and Lou (2000) suggested that web courses should use structured activities and group collaborations to create meaningful online assessments

Jiang and Ting (1999) further support this idea of meaningful interaction, group work and collaborations within assessments in an online course. In a study that utilized course evaluations and surveys of 287 students in web-centric courses, Jiang and Ting also suggested that assessments that were interactive between students and that included input from the instructor, in the discussion area, were rich and meaningful. They concluded that written assignments that were collaborative, structured, and included formative feedback from the instructor correlated with student's perception of learning.

However, Muirhead (2000) also reported that quality assessment was a constant source of concern in his study of online instructors. Muirhead declared that since faculty were unable to interact in a face to face classroom; many online instructors were worried that academic honesty and integrity were more challenging in online education. In addition, McAlister, Rivera and Hallam (2001) raised another potential concern that there was difficulty in ascertaining the students' identity when communicating over the Internet. Hanson (2004) asserted that plagiarism, cheating and integrity in taking online tests are also issues in ensuring quality online instruction.

Although online education critics have suggested there is no guaranteed method to ensure students are held accountable, Heberling (2002) concluded that many strategies can be utilized to detect and prevent plagiarism and academic dishonesty. Heberling suggested using sites that reverse Internet searches and track back to original sources. He also suggested that constant contact with students and forming assessments around discussions and formative work also could be utilized to detect academic dishonesty. Hanson (2004) asserted that taking into account the challenges and barriers to online assessments will help faculty ensure that quality online instruction is available.

*Rubrics.* Norton and Wiburg (1998) asserted that rubrics are an excellent tool to ensure students are held accountable. Norton and Wiburg defined a rubric as a written set of measurable elements for scoring student performance such as: writing, presentations,

portfolios, tests and other performance tasks. Ford (2002) suggested that rubrics can provide an essential component of the grading process in online classes. Ford declared that if rubrics for assignments are provided to online students at the onset of the course, then students can be prepared to plan, draft and execute their online course assignments. Furthermore, Picciano (2001) concurred that online students can benefit greatly from rubrics if they are included as a link from the syllabus. Picciano endorsed the use of rubrics and suggested that a grading rubric for all assignments should be made available the first day an online course is accessible to students or as early as possible in advance to each assignment or activity.

However, Schweizer (1999) declared that a rubric could be anything from a simple checklist to a detailed analysis and should be avoided. Thus Ford (2002) stated that because there can be a vast array of possible measuring criteria, rubrics must be carefully devised to measure what they are intended to measure. Simonson (2000) also suggested that faculty should be careful in crafting rubrics because they can have a propensity to diminish creativity in students and allow some students to turn in the bare minimum to meet the requirements of a rubric.

Aligning assessment with course objectives. Nonetheless, Deubel (2003) stated that to ensure the quality of assignments in the online learning environment, the faculty member should design online courses to use rubrics in collaborative assignments, include exemplary student work, permit revisions to homework, and encourage learners to initiate course-related discussions. In addition, Deubel also suggested that assessments should be aligned with course objectives and subject aims. Deubel further asserted that

assignments constructed to build on each other help to create a formative tool for assessing online learning.

*Summative and formative assessments.* Serwatka (1999) stated that summative testing is another assessment tool that can be used in online learning, although Serwatka promoted that students should come to campus to take online tests to ensure academic honesty. However, Olt (2002) promoted the special use of username and password combinations to take summative online tests. Olt also asserted that the use of time limits, randomized questions from questions pools and number of permissible accesses to tests were also methods to help prevent academic dishonesty.

However, Wu and Hiltz (2004) declared that formative assessments should be employed to reach the higher order thinking, critical thinking and problem solving skills. Wu and Hiltz asserted that assessments such as ongoing online discussions and writing assignments must be integrated into an online educational course. Wu and Hiltz also suggested online discussions and writing assignments that are tied to learning outcomes provided online learners with the potential of higher-order thinking skills. Johnson (1997) asserted that formative assessments provided students with the ability to foster further growth in problem solving skills and declared that providing formative learning assessments online could promote sustained thinking over a period of time and reach higher order thinking skills.

Nevertheless, Strickland and Strickland (1998) stressed that regardless of the utilization of formative or summative methods, a facilitator should be able to accommodate student learning styles in assessment to help promote successful learning. Strickland and Strickland stated that the learning styles that are most successful in online education are: self-directive, task-oriented, independent, interested in problem-solving, real world scenarios and are able to work in textual communication.

*Evaluating online assessment.* Speck (2002) insisted that while learning styles were important in assessment, the faculty member must ultimately use professorial judgment as a valid part of the evaluation process. Speck stated that assessment should not be reduced to objective criteria and that human judgment, grounded in a theoretical base will have value in an online class. Speck further pointed out that it is realistic that grades are required in the existing system of higher education and should serve to assess grades, not grade assessments. On the other hand, Palomba and Banta (1999) stated otherwise, and suggested that assessments utilized for online learning needed to be evaluated periodically.

Palomba and Banta (1999) also asserted that assessments should have strong faculty buy-in and that multiple methods should be used when formulating assessment. However, Palomba and Banta did concur with Speck (2002) and supported the binding of assessments to explicitly stated learning outcomes. Additionally, Palomba and Banta said that assessment strategies should always clearly distinguish, within the syllabus, if the assessments are formative or summative or a combination of both types of assessment.

Clearly, assessments of online courses interconnect at two key components: assessment of learners within a course and assessment of a course (Anderson & Elloumi, 2004). Any assessment of a course exists as the formative or summative evaluation of how "well" an online learner is doing with their intended learning outcomes. Assessment of an online course consists of tools to ascertain how much learning took place and how

well the course environment worked for the learners. In fact, Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools (HLC, 2000) also suggested that institutions must understand the need to not only use best practices in online assessment of students' work, but online courses themselves must have tools in place to demonstrate a consistent overview of how well the assessment meets the objectives of the course, the intended outcomes, and the mission of the institution.

Online assessment, as previously stated, is not without its problems. However, Clark (2002) declared that faculty should be given time to explore the marriage of effective learning theory tied to assessment to maximize the effectiveness of online education. Thus, not only helping students obtain information, but gain a clear understanding of what they know and why they know it. According to Clark, if online learning is tied to active processes, constructivism, complex ideas, autonomy and selfreferences and other adult learning techniques then given the advantages and disadvantages of online learning, assessment in an online course can be just as vigorous and meaningful as in a face to face classroom.

## Adult Learning Techniques

Online education is largely directed to the nontraditional adult learner. Gibbons and Wentworth (2004) declared that to reach the nontraditional online learner, three key elements must be addressed. These three key elements are the technology, the curriculum and the instructor. These three elements must be integrated into one smoothly operating delivery tool and it is up to the faculty member to design, construct and deliver meaningful online course content regardless of the technology utilized (Charp, 2000). Gibbons and Wentworth (2004) further asserted that online learners are the products of a fast moving society that value their productivity, their time, and want measurable results. Indeed, Bedore, Bedore and Bedore (1997) stated there is a clear need for substantive differences between online and face-to-face instructional methods and that technological advances have created an environment where students are not always tied to synchronous learning activities or to physical meeting places. Gibbons and Wentworth also described online learners as self-directed learners and suggested that an examination of online education might reveal a demand for difference in online instructional strategies. Thus, there is a need to evaluate the learning theory that is tied to the online educational practices.

*Pedagogy and Andragogy in Adult Online Learning.* In recent years, an examination of online learners and their needs has revealed the need to distinguish between pedagogical and andragogical approaches to education in an online teaching environment. For the purpose of this study, andragogical concepts will be explored as an important element of best practices in order to teach effectively in an online environment. Pedagogy refers to the traditional instructional approach to education while andragogy refers to an approach to learning that is adult centered and based on self-directed learning. The phrase andragogy was coined by an acknowledged leader in the field of adult education, Malcolm Knowles who utilized the Greek words *aner*, meaning adult and *agogus*, meaning leader or guide. He united these phrases to illustrate the science and art of assisting adults in the learning process (Knowles, 1980).

Online education has been primarily directed to nontraditional learners in the past, although people of all ages are beginning to choose nontraditional education to start and
advance their careers (Charp, 2000). Thus, universities and higher education learning facilities are launching online courses at a startling rate to answer the call of the growing number of online learners (Sloan Consortium, 2005).

Many institutional administrators, preoccupied with increasing pressures for enrollment and funding issues, presume that online teaching environments are simple to use and are inherently sufficient to ensure quality online programs. White and Weight (2000) suggested that one of the biggest mistakes that an institution can make is to assume that all faculty fully understand the differences between traditional and online delivery methods and that course materials converted or developed online can simply be transferred from lecture notes to online text. Bedore et. al. (1997) insisted that to ensure quality online teaching, faculty should utilize adult learning techniques as part of a regimen of quality practices in online learning. Bedore et.al. also suggested that faculty who teach online should understand the nature of the online learner is grounded in andragogical theory and this theory can be conceptualized in five broad categories as characterized by Knowles (1980).

Knowles (1992) described these basic andragogical categories in the following manner: (a) the concept of instruction moves from lecturer to facilitator, (b) the concept of the adult learner is increasingly self-directed, (c) the motivation of the learner in many cases moves from external rewards to internal incentives, (d) the orientation to learning for the adult becomes more problem and task centered, and (e) the adult learner can bring a wealth of information and experience to class.

*Student Centered Instruction in Adult Online Learning.* Merriam and Brockett (1997) suggested that in order for online faculty to effectively reach the adult learner,

faculty need to embed adult learning techniques into their online courses. Initially, this suggests moving the responsibility for learning from facilitator to the learner. Merriam and Brockett further suggested that utilizing a collaborative learning model for students that is learner-centered rather than instructor–centered and dialogue-based rather than lecture-based provides a more meaningful and satisfactory learning experience for the online adult learner.

*Experience and Knowledge in Adult Online Learning.* According to Hiss (2000), an adult-centered approach to online teaching assumes that students bring not only a wealth of knowledge to an online class but they bring experience to a class as well. In many instances the learner may be as knowledgeable in a given subject as the facilitator of the course. Because of this, Hiss suggested that students should be comfortable in sharing their expertise with the class without fear of reprimand from the facilitator. Hiss further offered that faculty who suppress students' expertise and who dominate a given course can potentially stifle the students' desire to learn and the adult learner will have a tendency to become inhibited with dialogue in a course.

*Self-Direction in Adult Online Learning.* Offir and Lev (2000) suggested that faculty needed to acknowledge the online learner's self-direction. Their research further recommended that adult learners' motivation and orientation to learning are explicitly tied to adult learning techniques. In their analysis of faculty interactions with students online, Offir and Lev promoted and encouraged adult learning techniques in the following manner: (a) social: faculty should create a positive atmosphere and support motivational affective aspects of learning; (b) procedural: faculty should provide practical and routine information regarding administrative and technical issues related to a lesson

or course; (c) expository: faculty should present content that is relevant and meaningful to students; (d) explanatory: faculty should use questions or comments initiated by the student in order to explain content; (e) cognitive: faculty should present questions or learning tasks that require students to actively engage in processing the given information and finally; (f) learning assistance: faculty should attempt to gain and maintain students' attention via clear organization of content to facilitate retention.

However, in a dissenting view, Cassidy (2003) considers Knowles' five basic tenets for andragogy as applicable to learners of all ages that have self-directed and intrinsic desires to learn. Cassidy contends that the sharp distinctions that Knowles attempted to draw between older and younger students amounted to degrees of characteristics and not different characteristics for learning. Although, Cassidy did agree that the adoption of adult learning techniques will provide a solid best practice in online teaching.

*Five components of Adult Online Learning.* Cassidy further defined strong support of adult learner-centered approaches as follows: (a) social: learn who the students are, their backgrounds, interests, reason for taking a course, and integrate this into information that is discussed early on in an online course. It may even be used to target content; (b) scaffolding: encourage students to discuss relevant experiences and ask questions online to support and expand on these experiences. In addition, encourage students to identify how a topic applies to matters of interest to them, how it can be built on to become clearer to all involved, and how a subject relates to the larger world; (c) critical thinking: pose questions to students online at higher levels of thinking to encourage learners to integrate what they already know with what is being presented and

65

have them stretch their learning to new horizons; (d) flexibility: allow students to define their own projects and applications that can demonstrate their mastery of a subject, and finally; (e) support: provide both individual and group support to students who need it. Not all online students are ready or able to be highly self-directed at all times. In addition, Cassidy stated that faculty should monitor students individually to facilitate successful learning.

Hanna, Glowacki-Dudka and Coinceicao-Runlee (2000) also suggested that utilizing adult learning techniques in online teaching is essential to the quality of an online course. These researchers indicated that adult learning techniques, when applied appropriately, can provide students with a clearer understanding of content, development of skills, and prepare students to become more reflective learners. Hanna et al. also indicated that if adult learning techniques are not utilized as a best practice in online learning, then real barriers to online learning may ensue and students may become discouraged in online class participation.

*Clarity and Quality in Adult Online Learning.* Hanna et al. (2000) also advised that utilizing adult learning techniques to gain agreement with students in the structure, rules, norms and procedures for discussions is necessary. This idea of clearly defining the structure and rules may help to develop trust between faculty and students in an online course. Hanna et al. further asserted that allowing students to suggest modifications to rules and procedures in an online course may give them a sense of ownership.

Along with these examples of adult learning techniques in an online teaching environment, there is a perception of suggesting constructivist activities for the student as part of the successful implementation of an online course. Conceicao-Runlee and Daley (1998) point out that practical team-building activities, team projects, the sharing of course assignments, collaborative assignments, case studies and real-world simulations online can all encourage substantive learning in an online teaching environment. Conceicao-Runlee and Daley further suggested that a constructivist approach went handin-hand with adult learning and that in order for online courses to be successful a best practice would be to utilize the theory of constructivism in the creation and design of an online course.

Palloff and Pratt (2001) also agree with using adult learning techniques online. These researchers asserted that adult learning techniques provided a constructivist approach to online education and extended the critical thinking skills of students. Palloff and Pratt firmly advocate that faculty members must consider creating constructivist activities that can fully utilize the nature of asynchronous communication online.

Although there are a myriad of adult learning techniques, the literature suggests that the best practice for quality online teaching is the utilization of a student centered approach based on the underpinnings of andragogical theory and practice.

#### **Chapter Summary**

Speck (2002) asserted that the impact of the learning experiences consistently relies heavily on how online instructors interact with their students. In addition, Speck declared that institutions should begin to follow standardized best practices that involve the total participation and support from online faculty members. It is important to note that many educators are not advocates of any single set of practices or procedures because they do not believe that online instruction can help solve teaching and learning issues. Anderson and Elloumi (2004) assert that many faculty members believe online learning environments have become far too commercialized and do not add any value to the learning experience. In fact, some faculty are certain that even with standards, protocols, and best practices in place, that somehow a university degree becomes devalued, and may reduce the overall thoroughness of a university degree if classes are held online. On the other hand, advocates of online learning suggest that education online provides enhanced learning and relieves the bounds of space and place for students that may otherwise be unable to obtain a quality education (Aragon, 2003).

Unfortunately, major for-profit organizations will continue to have an impact on how institutions respond to the infrastructure and assessment of their online educational environments. Thus, it is necessary for universities to set the bar for quality online instruction. There are clear challenges that universities face within the realm of online education. These challenges range from the demand for online courses, escalating costs of technology, legal challenges pertaining to intellectual property, training and retraining of all involved in the online process, to the methods by which programs and online environments are assessed and held accountable.

A clear direction might be to utilize current policies, procedures and best practices set forth by accrediting bodies to provide improvements in online curriculum delivery, design and implementation. The literature has revealed such an inventory of best practices that include: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. It is the intent of this study to examine the extent of use of these best practices by higher education faculty in West Virginia in online educational environments.

# CHAPTER THREE

## Methods

Educational research studies often involve descriptions of natural or social phenomena, their form, structure and relationship to other phenomena, thus shedding light on questions concerning their value or place in an educational setting. The descriptive function of research is heavily dependent on an exhaustive literature review, instrumentation for measurement and on observation (Gall, Borg, & Gall, 1996). This chapter describes the research procedures that were used to investigate the extent to which higher education faculty in West Virginia agree their online courses reflect the use of best practices. These best practices have been defined by a review of the literature and are supported by C-RAC (2003). The research question this study sought to answer was:

To what extent do West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect the following quality practices: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques?

As a follow up to the main research question, an ex post facto corollary set of questions examined the effect that years of teaching in higher education and online teaching experiences have on quality online teaching practices.

Furthermore, incorporated into this chapter are descriptions of the research design, participants in the study, the data collection procedures, discussion of the survey instrument, and the intended statistical analysis.

#### **Research Design**

This research utilized a cross-sectional survey that was designed to investigate the extent in which West Virginia higher education faculty use quality online practices in online instruction. This research was a non-parametric descriptive study.

The *Survey of Online Educational Practices* was based on a careful and in-depth review of quality online teaching implementation and practices. Six characteristics were selected because they are supported by literature and are delineated by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions, to provide quality online instruction. This study examined: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. These domains were listed in order as they appeared on the survey.

#### **Participants**

The population of this study was gathered from higher education faculty members who teach online courses in West Virginia. These are faculty who teach distance education courses, that are Internet based, and who utilize tools that include contentbased online instruction. Furthermore, the participants of this study were instructors who taught higher education in an online environment during the spring, summer and fall semesters of 2006. The research study included four year higher education institutions in West Virginia. The participants were identified by online coordinators, admissions departments, and information technology specialists at each of the 19 West Virginia higher education four year institutions. Four schools did not meet the criteria for the study and three schools choose not to participate in the study. The final population was 545 participants. All of the participants were sent surveys. Babbie (1973) suggests that a return rate of 50% plus one provides an excellent review of the data without statistical bias. Additionally, the return rate of the sample was 290 at a p.05 level yielding a confidence rating level of 95%. Creswell (2005) maintains that samples of this variety can provide useful information for answering questions and hypotheses.

The sample consisted of tenured, non-tenured, full-time, and part-time staff that teach online courses. A Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Excel spreadsheet was created to categorize and organize the names, mailing addresses, job classifications and other demographic data related to the population. The participants were further divided into groups, based on employment classification. Additionally, Marshall University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) protocols were followed to protect human participants. The IRB approval was obtained prior to inviting faculty members to participate in the study.

#### **Data Collection**

A self-report survey (Appendix A) was mailed to participants in the fall of 2007. The sample population was mailed the following elements: (a) a cover letter introducing the researcher, the purpose of the study, a confidentiality statement, and contact information (Appendix B), (b) the survey itself, and (c) a self-addressed postage-paid return envelope. The cover letter also included the IRB approval number and information regarding tracking for re-mailing purposes. Surveys were coded with a unique identifying number and were tracked via a lookup table for re-mailing purposes to nonrespondents only.

Within three weeks after the first mailing 53% of the respondents returned their surveys. A follow-up post-card (Appendix C) and a second packet with a follow up letter (Appendix D) were not required to increase the return rate. Literature indicated that

follow-up information could be utilized in an attempt to increase return rates (Berdie, Anderson & Niebuhr, 1986).

As previously indicated, the return rate of the surveys should be at least 50% plus one from the sample population (Babbie, 1973). Furthermore, Babbie stated that a return rate of 50% plus one provided an excellent rough view of the data with no statistical bias. In fact, Babbie found that a lack of response bias was far more important than a higher return rate. However, in order to obtain an acceptable response rate, a second and third mailing would have been made (York, 2003).

#### Instrumentation

According to Creswell (2005) a cross-sectional survey design is the most popular form of survey design used in education. A cross-sectional survey design allows the researcher to collect data at a single point in time. For instance, a cross-sectional design of a survey can examine the *current* practices, attitudes, and opinions of study participants. After a review of the literature pertaining to best practices in online education, a blending of concepts emerged that are indicative of quality online educational environments. No instrument was available that used this blending of concepts.

Therefore, this survey instrument was developed by the researcher and recommendations from faculty in the field of online education. The instrument that was used for this study is entitled the *Survey of Online Educational Practice* (Appendix A). Elements within the survey required the participants to report to what extent West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online coursers reflect the following quality practices: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques.

The survey utilized three sections: (a) the six principle quality practices, as defined in the literature review; (b) demographic data; and (c) an open-ended question for faculty to indicate additional factors that may have promoted or hindered their utilization of quality practices in online education. Babbie (1973) suggested that an open ended question provides respondent's additional room to write their own comments not found in a forced answer survey.

The demographic section of the survey asked participants to supply information such as faculty status, age, sex, years teaching in higher education, and years teaching online. In addition, an open-ended question was provided within the survey for faculty to indicate additional factors that may have promoted or hindered their utilization of quality practices in online education.

The quality online practices section of the survey explored the extent to which West Virginia faculty agree they are utilizing quality practices in their online courses. Questions were rated on a 6 point Likert scale ranging from 1 (1 = strongly disagree) to 6 (6 = strongly agree). According to Kerlinger (1964) the greater the Likert scale number (i.e. 5 point - 7 point scale), the greater the response variance.

The first nine statements of the survey explored the extent to which West Virginia higher education faculty agreed with the quality practices of institutional support, faculty support, and the technological support necessary to develop and deliver online instruction. The next 15 statements explored the extent to which West Virginia higher education faculty agree they use high quality online teaching practices. Finally, the survey included demographic data and a comment area. As previously stated, this comment area requested additional factors that promoted or hindered the utilization of quality practices in online education; and the comment area also provided other emergent ideas that were used as ancillary data in the study.

#### **Expert Recommendations**

Following the development of the survey, input was solicited from experts in the field of online education. There was a group of six individuals that received a copy of the drafted survey for review and recommendations (Appendix E). Feedback from experts is a crucial factor in the creation of the instrument and the content validity of the survey (Creswell, 2005).

According to Lynn (1986), an expert panel should consist of at least three members. However, Rubio et al. (2003) assert that six members should be included in the pilot group that consists of content experts and lay experts. Rubio et al. also suggest that the survey review group should have content experts in the fields of instructional technology and online instruction, and members who have published in the area of instructional technology. The lay experts, which are in the survey review group, should be faculty who utilize online instruction in their own discipline.

The expert panel was selected from members outside of the doctoral research committee and was requested to indicate the appropriateness of each of the elements on the survey for measuring quality online practices in online education. Smith and Glass (1987) suggested a series of questions for the panel of experts that should be asked about items included in the study (Appendix F) to check for readability and content validity. To review content reliability, a Cronbach's alpha test was used. The Cronbach's alpha test is utilized after the collection and recording of the data are completed.

A Cronbach's alpha coefficient examines how well a set of items measures a single bi-dimensional construct (UCLA Academic Technology Services, 2003). It is a function of the number of test items and the average inter-correlation among the items. Based on the calculations of this coefficient, a determination can be made whether or not the items on the survey are representing the elements of the study (Salkind, 2004). According to Cortina (1993), the Cronbach's alpha test is an important factor in establishing test construction and use. As previously acknowledged, after collection and recoding of the data, the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) program was used to calculate the coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) for section one of the survey to determine content reliability. According to Allen and Yen (2002) anything above .80 is consider an acceptable measure in establishing test construction and test coefficient reliability. The Cronbach's alpha test on the researcher based *Survey of Online Educational* yielded a coefficient of .85 for the combined quality online practices investigated.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

After the researcher received the completed self-reported surveys, data were analyzed to determine the extent in which higher education faculty utilize quality online practices in online education as defined by the six blended elements of quality online educational practices. The data was then compared to the demographic data for additional analysis. Descriptive statistics and tests of significance were conducted as needed.

## **Chapter Summary**

The procedures that are defined in this chapter describe the method the researcher used to establish the significance of the study. The process and methods are designed to determine the extent to which higher education faculty use quality online practices in online education. Descriptive statistics and tests of significance were used to describe the results. The instrument used in this research was a cross-sectional, self-reporting survey titled the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*. The participants of this study were instructors who taught higher education in an online environment during the spring, summer and fall semesters of 2006. The participants were identified by online coordinators, admissions departments, and information technology specialists at each West Virginia higher education facility. Chapter four presents the findings from the statistical analysis.

# CHAPTER FOUR Findings

This chapter presents the data analysis of survey responses concerning the extent to which West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect quality online practices as described in the literature review. The research question for this study along with the corresponding statistical analysis is presented in narrative and numerical form.

A comprehensive review of the literature revealed themes of best practices in online learning that are delineated by a comprehensive literature review and supported by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions (Benson, 2003) to provide quality online instruction. These high quality online practices are: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. These six characteristics were addressed in a single research question:

To what extent do West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect the following quality practices: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques?

The study utilized a researcher-designed instrument, which yielded quantitative results based on descriptive non-parametric data. The instrument used in this research was a cross-sectional, self-reporting survey titled the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*. The instrument contained 24 forced answer statements with a Likert rating scale. Participants of this study were instructors who taught in higher education, in an

online environment in West Virginia during the spring, summer and fall semesters of 2006.

#### **Population and Sample**

Nineteen West Virginia higher education institutions were asked to participate in the study, four schools did not meet the criteria for the study and three schools choose not to participate. There was no consistent method to obtain online faculty rosters among West Virginia higher education institutions. For example, one institution employed a learning management system coordinator that kept online instructor data. Another institution did not utilize an online coordinator, and provided the online instructor rosters through the academic admissions office.

The population for the study included 556 instructors from 12 higher education institutions. All 556 faculty were asked to participate in the study. However, 11 cases were dropped from the analysis due to four deaths and seven inaccurate addresses. This provided a final population size of 545 possible participants. All of the participants were sent the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* on August 23, 2007. Survey participants were asked to return the completed survey by September 7, 2007. Of the 545 faculty selected to participate in the study, 290 returned the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* in the first mailing. This represented 53% of the sample population. Babbie (1973) suggested that a return rate of 50% plus one will provide an excellent review of the data without statistical bias. Furthermore, a return rate of 290 for this sample yielded a 95% confidence level with a 4.0% margin of error. Although the mailings resulted in 290 returned surveys, the number of responses for each statement on the survey varied due to the nature of a self-report survey.

After collection and coding of the data, the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 14 software program was used to calculate the coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) for the 24 targeted statements in section one of the survey to determine test coefficient reliability. According to Allen and Yen (2002) anything above .80 is considered an acceptable measure in establishing test construction and test coefficient reliability. The *Survey of Online Educational Practices* yielded a .85 in test reliability, thus meeting an acceptable measurement in test coefficient reliability.

#### **Major Findings**

This section presents major findings for the research question structured to correspond with the six targeted domain characteristics that were identified as quality online practices in the literature review, these include: support, collaboration/teamwork, flexibility, feedback, assessment and adult learning techniques. This study is connected to perceptions which West Virginia higher education faculty have regarding their practices in online teaching. Results were collected based on self-reported responses to the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*.

The first section of the survey contained 24 forced answer statements. Each of the six identified quality online practices was represented by three statements per practice. The first nine statements explored the extent to which West Virginia higher education faculty agree with the quality practices of support. The practice of support is broken down into three statements that further describe how support is delineated as a quality online practice. These practices are: institutional support, faculty support, and technological support necessary to develop and deliver online instruction. The next 15 questions explored the extent to which West Virginia higher

education faculty agree they use high quality online teaching practices. These quality

online teaching practices are collaboration and teamwork, flexibility, feedback,

assessment and adult learning techniques. Table 1 provides a descriptive view of the

research question illustrated through the survey statements. Table 1 also provides the

targeted domain practices and the item numbers of statements related to each targeted

quality online practice.

 Table 1 - Research Question and Represented Survey Statements

Research Question:	
--------------------	--

To what extent of	do West Virginia	a higher education	on faculty agre	ee their online	courses
reflect the follow	wing quality prac	ctices?			

Domain Practices	Statements (Numbered Order)
Support:	
Institutional Support	Statements 1, 2, 3
Faculty Support	Statements 4, 5, 6
Technology Support	Statements 7, 8, 9
Collaboration and Teamwork	Statements 10, 11, 12
Flexibility	Statements 13, 14, 15
Feedback	Statements 16, 17, 18
Assessment	Statements 19, 20, 21
Adult learning styles	Statements 22, 23, 24

The *Survey of Online Educational Practices* asked participants to describe their perceptions on a 6 point Likert scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = somewhat disagree, 4 = somewhat agree, 5 = agree, to 6 = strongly agree. Descriptive frequencies (mode) and mean scores were calculated on each statement for ease of interpretation on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* and were then collapsed into rankings of disagree or agree.

After the initial analysis of each individual statement, the statements were collapsed into composite group categories and analyzed within each targeted domain. All

of the data were analyzed using SPSS version 14 to obtain results and all of the results

are based on non-parametric tests.

## A Summary for Targeted Quality Online Practices

Table 2 provides a description of the mean, median and mode for each statement

and observed differences within each targeted online practice.

Statement	Ν	Μ	Med	Mod	SD
S1. Institutional Support	289	2.62	2.0	2	1.410
S2. Institutional Support	290	3.02	3.0	3	1.430
S3. Institutional Support	288	3.30	3.0	2	1.558
S4. Faculty Support	290	3.81	4.0	5	1.547
S5. Faculty Support	290	3.99	4.0	4	1.419
S6. Faculty Support	289	3.17	3.0	4	1.417
S7. Technology Support	289	4.06	4.0	5	1.471
S8. Technology Support	289	3.27	3.0	2	1.576
S9. Technology Support	289	4.42	5.0	5	1.412
S10. Collaborate/Teamwork	290	2.94	3.0	3	1.465
S11. Collaborate/Teamwork	289	2.83	3.0	2	1.432
S12. Collaborate/Teamwork	289	2.90	3.0	1	1.581
S13. Flexibility	287	3.49	4.0	4	1.544
S14. Flexibility	290	4.81	5.0	5	1.198
S15. Flexibility	290	3.82	4.0	5	1.567
S16. Feedback	290	4.34	5.0	6	1.473
S17. Feedback	290	4.42	5.0	6	1.479
S18. Feedback	290	4.87	5.0	6	1.064
S19. Assessment	289	2.85	3.0	1	1.478
S20. Assessment	289	4.48	5.0	5	1.344
S21. Assessment	290	3.23	3.0	3	1.703
S22. Adult Learning Tech	290	4.41	5.0	5	1.329
S23. Adult Learning Tech	290	4.37	5.0	5	1.433
S24. Adult Learning Tech	290	4.65	5.0	5	1.155

Table 2 - Individual Mean Scores for Targeted Online Practices

## Support: Institutional Support

The first nine statements of the survey explored the extent to which West Virginia

higher education faculty agree with the quality practices of support. The first three

statements target the domain practice of institutional support. Based on the three targeted statements of institutional support Table 3 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for each individual statement related to institutional support.

Table 3 -	- Descriptive	Data for S	Statements	Targeting	Institutiona	l Su	pport
	1			0 0			11

	Ν	Μ	Med	Mod	SD
S1. My institution provides adequate	289	2.62	2.0	2	1.410
compensation for online course					
development and delivery.					
S2. My institution monitors the					
development and delivery of online courses	290	3.02	3.0	3	1.430
delivery of online courses.					
S3. My institution has a policy for	288	3.30	3.0	2	1.558
intellectual property.					

Statement one had a mean of 2.62 (Median 2.0, Mode (2) "disagree") with 289 responses; 222 of those responses (76.8%) of the participants disagreed that their institutions provide adequate compensation for online course development and delivery and 67 of the participants (22.9%) agreed their institutions provided adequate compensation. One participant (.3%) did not respond to the statement. Statement two had a mean of 3.02 (Median 3.0, Mode (3) "somewhat disagree") with 290 responses; 197 of those responses (67.9%) disagreed their institution monitored the development and delivery of online courses and 93 (32.1%) agreed their institution provided monitoring. Statement three had a mean of 3.30 (Median 3.0, Mode (2) "disagree") with 288 responses and 169 of those responses (58.7%) disagreed their institution had a policy for intellectual property regarding online content and 119 (40.6%) agreed their institution had a policy for intellectual property for online content. Two participants (.7%) did not respond to the statement.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of institutional support collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 4. Also included in Table 4 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of institutional support was 2.97. The composite mode for the targeted quality practice of institutional support was "somewhat disagree" (3) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

Table 4 - Descri	ptive Data f	for Composite: 1	Institutional	Support
------------------	--------------	------------------	---------------	---------

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Institutional Support	288	2.97	3	1.223

## Support: Faculty Support

Table 5 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for the three individual

statements related to faculty support.

Table 5	- Des	scriptive	Data	for	Statements	Ta	rgeting	Facult	v S	Sur	ppo	ort
							<i>a</i> · · <i>a</i>					

	Ν	Μ	Med	Mod	SD
S4. My institution provides ongoing	290	3.81	4.0	5	1.547
professional development in online					
course creation.					
S5. My institution provides training in	290	3.99	4.0	4	1.419
the hardware and software technologies					
needed to deliver online instruction.					
S6. My institution provides training in	289	3.17	3.0	4	1.417
copyright laws and legal issues related					
to teaching online.					

Statement four had a mean of 3.81 (Median 4.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 290 responses; 178 of the participants (64.4%) agreed their institutions provided ongoing professional development and 112 of those responses, (38.6%) disagreed their institution provided ongoing professional development in online course creation. Statement five had a mean of 3.99 (Median 4.0, Mode (4) "somewhat agree") with 290 responses; 201

(69.3%) agreed their institution provided the technical training needed to deliver online instruction and 89 of those responses (30.7%) disagreed their institution provided training in hardware and software technologies needed to deliver online instruction. Statement six had a mean of 3.17 (Median 3.0, Mode (4) "somewhat agree") with 289 responses; 161 of those responses (55.7%) disagreed their institution provided training in copyright laws and legal issues related to teaching online and 128 (44.0%) agreed their institution provided training in copyright laws and legal issues related to teaching online. One participant (.3%) did not respond to the statement.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of faculty support collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 6. Also included in Table 6 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of faculty support was 3.65. The composite mode for the targeted quality practice of faculty support was "somewhat agree" (4) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Faculty Support	289	3.65	4	1.201

## Support: Technology Support

Table 7 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for the three individual statements related to technology support.

			<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
	Ν	Μ	Med	Mod	SD
S7. My institution's online course	289	4.06	4.0	5	1.471
delivery platform rarely has downtime.					
S8. My institution provides technological	289	3.27	3.0	2	1.576
support 24 hours a day for my online					
courses.					
S9. My institution provides an online	289	4.42	5.0	5	1.412
delivery platform that is easy to use					
(e.g. WebCT, Desire to Learn, Sakai).					

Table 7 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Technology Support

Statement seven had a mean of 4.06 (Median 4.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 289 responses; 194 of the participants (66.8%) agreed their institutions delivery platform rarely has downtime and 95 of those responses, (32.9%) disagreed their institutions delivery platform rarely has downtime. One participant (.3%) did not respond to the statement. Statement eight had a mean of 3.27 (Median 3.0, Mode (2) "disagree") with 289 responses; 163 (56.4%) disagreed their institution provides technological support 24 hours a day for online courses and 126 of those responses (43.3%) agreed their institution provides technological support 24 hours a day for online courses. One participant (or .3%) did not respond to the statement. Statement. Statement nine had a mean of 4.42 (Median 5.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 289 responses; 223 of those responses (76.9%) agreed their institution provides an online delivery platform that is easy to use and 66 (22.8%) disagreed their institution provides an online delivery platform that is easy to use. One participant (.3%) did not respond to the statement.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of technology support collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 8. Also included in Table 8 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of technology support was 3.90. The composite mode for the targeted quality

practice of technology support was "agree" (or 5) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

Table 8 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Technology Support

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Technology Support	287	3.90	5	1.156

#### **Collaboration and Teamwork**

Table 9 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for the three individual statements related to collaboration and teamwork.

Table 9 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Collaboration & Teamwork

	N	М	Med	Mod	SD
S10. My institution provides mentoring	290	2.94	3.0	3	1.465
for online instructors.					
S11. My institution allows other faculty	289	2.83	3.0	2	1.432
to review my online courses for clarity					
and consistency.					
S12. I work with instructional designers	289	2.90	3.0	1	1.581
from my institution to develop my online					
courses.					

Statement 10 had a mean of 2.94 (Median 3.0, Mode (3) "somewhat disagree") with 290 responses; 208 of the participants (71.7%) disagreed that their institutions provided mentoring for online instructors and 82 of those responses (28.3%) agreed their institutions provided mentoring for online instructors. Statement 11 had a mean of 2.83 (Median 3.0, Mode (2) "disagree") with 289 responses; 197 (68.2%) disagreed their institution allows other faculty to review their online courses for clarity and consistency and 92 of those responses (31.5%) agreed their institution allows other faculty to review their institution allows other faculty to review their online courses for clarity and consistency their online courses for clarity and consistency. One participant (.3%) did not respond to the statement. Statement 12 had a mean of 2.90 (Median 3.0, Mode (1) "strongly disagree") with 289 responses; 183 of those responses (63.3%) disagreed that they

worked with instructional designers from their institution to develop their online courses and 106 (36.4%) agreed that they worked with instructional designers from their institution to develop their online courses. One participant (.3%) did not respond to the statement.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of collaboration and teamwork collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 10. Also included in Table 10 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of collaboration and teamwork was 2.88. The composite mode for the targeted quality practice of collaboration and teamwork was "disagree" (2) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

 Table 10 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Collaboration and Teamwork

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Collaboration and Teamwork	289	2.88	2	1.182

## *Flexibility*

Table 11 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for the three

individual statements related to flexibility.

T-11. 11 December 2 Dete for Ctatements	$T_{1} = 1$
Table 11 - Descriptive Data for Statements	Largering Flexibility
Tuoto II Desemptive Duta for Statements	rangeting rientering

	Ν	Μ	Med	Mod	SD
S13. I design my courses to allow students to play a significant role in course	287	3.49	4.0	4	1.544
S14. I handle unexpected technological interruptions with little hindrance to the	290	4.81	5.0	5	1.198
flow of the course (e.g. If the online course is unavailable, I permit my students to submit their assignments late, or by other					
means: such as email, or postal mail.					
S15. I am flexible with deadlines for online course work.	290	3.82	4.0	5	1.567

Statement 13 had a mean of 3.49 (Median 4.0, Mode (4) "somewhat agree") with 287 responses; 147 of the participants (51.2%) agreed they design their courses to allow students to play a significant role in course content and assessments and 140 of those responses (48.8%) disagreed they design their courses to allow students to play a significant role in course content and assessments. Three participants (1.0%) did not respond to the statement. Statement 14 had a mean of 4.81 (Median 5.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 290 responses; 247 (85.2%) agreed they handle unexpected technological interruptions with little hindrance to the flow of their courses and 43 of those responses (14.8%) disagreed they handled unexpected technological interruptions with little hindrance to the flow of their courses. Statement 15 had a mean of 3.82 (Median 4.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 290 responses; 178 of those responses (61.4%) agreed they are flexible with deadlines for online course work.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of flexibility collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 12. Also included in Table 12 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of flexibility was 4.04. The composite mode for the targeted quality practice of flexibility was "agree" (or 5) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

 Table 12 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Flexibility

	N	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Flexibility	287	4.04	5	0.979

## Feedback

Table 13 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for the three individual statements related to feedback.

	N	М	Med	Mod	SD
S16. I respond to students within 24	290	4.34	5.0	6	1.473
to 48 hours in my online courses.					
S17. I provide my feedback policies	290	4.42	5.0	6	1.479
clearly at the beginning of the online					
course within the syllabus. (e.g. I inform					
students when to expect a reply).					
S18. I provide students with detailed	290	4.87	5.0	6	1.064
constructive critiques of their work.					

 Table 13 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Feedback

Statement 16 had a mean of 4.34 (Median 5.0, Mode (6) "strongly agree") with 290 responses; 190 of the participants (65.5%) agreed they respond to students within 24 to 48 hours in their online courses and 100 of those responses (34.5%) disagreed they respond to students within 24 to 48 hours in their online courses. Statement 17 had a mean of 4.42 (Median 5.0, Mode (6) "strongly agree") with 290 responses; 215 (74.1%) agreed they provide feedback policies clearly at the beginning of the online course within the syllabus and 75 of those responses (25.9%) disagreed they provide feedback policies clearly at the beginning of the online syllabus. Statement 18 had a mean of 4.87 (Median 5.0, Mode (6) "strongly agree") with 290 responses; 257 of those responses (88.6%) agreed they provide students with detailed constructive critiques of their work and 33 (11.4%) disagreed they provide students with detailed constructive critiques of their work.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of feedback collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 14. Also included in Table 14 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of feedback was 4.54. The composite mode for the targeted quality practice of feedback was "strongly agree" (6) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

	Table 14 -	Descriptive	Data for	Composite:	Feedback
--	------------	-------------	----------	------------	----------

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Feedback	290	4.54	6	1.016

### Assessment

Table 15 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for the three

individual statements related to assessment.

	0	0			
	N	М	Med	Mod	SD
S19. I provide online assessments that address different learning styles (e.g. aural,	289	2.85	3.0	1	1.478
visual, tactile). S20. I provide assessments that are built on critical reflections of the course content	289	4.48	5.0	5	1.344
(e.g. journaling, critical writing, essay). S21. I include collaborative assessment activities in my online courses.	290	3.23	3.0	3	1.703
(e.g. discussions, small group projects).					

Table 15 - Descriptive Data for Statements Targeting Assessment

Statement 19 had a mean of 2.85 (Median 3.0, Mode (1) "strongly disagree") with 289 responses; 188 of the participants (65.1%) disagreed that they provide online assessments that address different learning styles and 101 of those responses (34.6%) agreed they provide online assessments that address different learning styles. One participant (.3%) did not respond to the statement. Statement 20 had a mean of 4.48 (Median 5, Mode (5) "agree") with 289 responses; 229 (78.9%) agreed they provide assessments that are built on critical reflections of the course content and 60 of those responses (20.8%) disagreed they provide assessments that are built on critical reflections of the statement. Statement 21 had a mean of 3.23 (Median 3.0, Mode (3) "somewhat disagree") with 290 responses; 156 of those responses (53.8%) disagreed that they include collaborative assessment

activities in their online courses and 134 (46.2 %) agreed they include collaborative assessment activities in their online courses.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of assessment collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 16. Also included in Table 16 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of assessment was 3.51. The composite mode for the targeted quality practice of assessment was "somewhat agree" (4) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

Table 16 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Assessment

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Assessment	289	3.51	4	1.075

#### Adult Learning Techniques

Table 17 illustrates the descriptive mean, median and mode for the three

individual statements related to adult learning techniques.

Table 17	- Descri	ptive Data	a for	Statements	Targeting	Adult 1	Learning	Technia	ues
							··· 0		

	Ν	Μ	Med	Mod	SD
S22. I encourage problem solving in my online courses (e.g. Students are	290	4.41	5.0	5	1.329
provided with case studies to examine.) S23. I promote social interaction in my online courses (e.g. Student biographical	290	4.37	5.0	5	1.433
area, Student discussion forums.) S24. I act as a facilitator rather than a lecturer in my online courses.	290	4.65	5.0	5	1.155

Statement 22 had a mean of 4.41 (Median 5.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 290 responses; 230 of the participants (79.3%) agreed they encourage problem solving in their online courses and 60 of those responses (20.7%) disagreed they encourage problem solving in their online courses. Statement 23 had a mean of 4.37 (Median 5.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 290 responses; 217 (74.8%) agreed they promote social interaction in their

online courses and 73 of those responses (25.2%) disagreed they promote social interaction in their online courses. Statement 24 had a mean of 4.65 (Median 5.0, Mode (5) "agree") with 290 responses; 240 of those responses (82.8%) agreed they acted as a facilitator rather than a lecturer in their online courses and 50 (17.2%) disagreed they acted as a facilitator rather than a lecturer in their online courses.

The composite table for the targeted online practice of adult learning techniques collapsed the three statements into a single mean score as illustrated in Table 18. Also included in Table 18 is the composite mode. The composite mean for the targeted quality practice of adult learning techniques was 4.47. The composite mode for the targeted quality practice of adult learning techniques was "agree" (5) on the Likert scale used in the survey.

Table 18 - Descriptive Data for Composite: Adult Learning Techniques

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Adult Learning Techniques	290	4.47	5	0.973

#### **Research Question Outcome**

This study was designed to determine the extent to which higher education faculty use quality online practices. A comprehensive literature review revealed themes of quality online practices that are also delineated by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions. These quality online practices are also supported by the Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education (2001) to provide quality online instruction. These quality online practices are: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. These six characteristics were addressed in the research question: To what extent do West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect the following quality practices: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques?

Each practice was broken down into three individual statements for each category.

After frequencies and means were analyzed and discussed for each individual statement, each practice was then collapsed into a composite mean, and the composite mode was analyzed. Table 19 provides an overview of the composite mean, and mode for each

targeted online practice.

Tabl	e 1	9	- ]	Descr	iptiv	e D	ata	for	Т	'argeted	C	Composi	ite (	Эn	line	Pra	acti	ces

	Ν	Μ	Mod	SD
Targeted Composite: Institutional Support	288	2.97	3	1.223
Targeted Composite: Faculty Support	289	3.65	4	1.201
Targeted Composite: Technology Support	287	3.90	5	1.156
Targeted Composite: Collaboration and Teamwork	289	2.88	2	1.182
Targeted Composite: Flexibility	287	4.04	5	0.979
Targeted Composite: Feedback	290	4.54	6	1.016
Targeted Composite: Assessment	289	3.51	4	1.075
Targeted Composite: Adult Learning Techniques	290	4.47	5	0.973

All of these means were then collapsed into one composite mean, median and composite mode to answer the research question. The Likert rating scale utilized in the study yielded an overall composite mean of 3.75. The median of the set of scores for the survey yielded a result of 4.0 and the mode was "agree" or (5) on the Likert rating scale used in the study. This quantitative result is based on ordinal and nominal data and revealed that overall more respondents approached agreement with the statements on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* that their courses reflected quality online practices as supported by the comprehensive literature review.

#### **Demographic Data**

The *Survey of Online Educational Practices* was used for the compilation of demographic data that describes characteristics of the respondents. The characteristics that were collected included: sex, faculty status related to employment (full time or parttime), faculty status related to job classification (tenured or non-tenured), years of experience in higher education and years of experience in online education. In addition, at the end of section two an open-ended question was provided for participants to indicate additional factors that may have promoted or hindered their utilization of quality practices in online education. Babbie (1973) suggested that an open-ended question provides respondent's additional room to write their own comments not found in a forced answer survey. This section provides a descriptive analysis of the demographic data gathered by the survey.

### Demographic: Sex

Participants of the study were asked to identify their sex in the study. Of the 290 respondents of the survey, 141 (48.6%) were male and 149 (51.4%) were female. Table 20 provides a descriptive view of respondents' sex.

Table 20 - Descriptive Data for Sex		
	Male	Female
Sex	141	149

### Demographic: Employment Status

Participants were also asked to indicate their faculty status related to level of employment (full-time or part-time). Out of the 290 respondents 202 or 69.7% rated their classification as full-time and 88 or 30.3% rated their classification as part-time. Table 21 provides an overview of respondents' faculty status.

<b>`</b>	Full Time	Part_Time
		I alt-I lille
Job Status	202	88

Table 21 - Descriptive Data for Faculty Status of Employment

## Demographic: Tenure Status

Participants were asked to indicate their faculty status related to job classification (tenured or non-tenured). Out of the 290 respondents to the survey 119 or 41% rated their classification as tenured and 171 or 59% rated their classification as non-tenured. Table 22 provides an overview of respondents' faculty status.

 Table 22 - Descriptive Data for Faculty Status of Job Classification

	Tenured	Non-Tenured
Job Status	119	171

## Demographic: Years Teaching in Higher Education

Participants were asked to indicate the number of years they had worked in higher education. The respondents' years of experience were then clustered into six categories: 1-5, 6-10, 11-15, 16-20, 21-25, and 26 or above years of experience. The number of years of experience was highest in the 6-10 range with 93 respondents or 32.1%. The remaining respondents were fairly evenly distributed among the five groups. Of the 290 responses, 52 respondents (17.9%) had 1-5 years experience in higher education; 36 respondents (12.4%) had 11-15 years experience; 41 respondents (14.1%) had 16-20 years experience; 28 respondents (9.7%) had 21-25 years experience and finally 40 respondents (13.8%) had 26 or more years experience in higher education. Table 23 provides a descriptive analysis of respondent years of higher education teaching experience.

1 2	0		
Years of Experience	Frequency	Percentage	
1-5 years	52	17.9	
6-10 years	93	32.1	
11-15 years	36	12.4	
16-20 years	41	14.1	
21-25 years	28	9.7	
26 and above	40	13.8	
Total Respondents	290	100.0	

Table 23 - Frequency Distribution of Higher Education Teaching Experience

#### Demographic: Years Teaching Online

Participants were asked to indicate the number of years they had worked in online education. The respondents' years of online teaching experience were then clustered into six categories: 1-5, 6-10, 11-15, 16-20, 21-25, and 26 or above years of experience. The number of years of experience yielded results within the first three categories. The first range of 1-5 years was highest with 201 respondents (69.3%). Of the 290 responses, 78 respondents (26.9%) had 6-10 years experience in online education and 11 respondents (3.8%) had 11-15 years of online teaching experience. None of the respondents to the survey indicated that they had above 15 years of online educational experience. Table 24 provides a descriptive analysis of respondent years of online teaching experience.

Years of Experience	Frequency	Percentage
1-5 years	201	69.3
6-10 years	78	26.9
11-15 years	11	3.8
Total Respondents	290	100.0

 Table 24 - Frequency Distribution of Online Teaching Experience

## **Ancillary Findings**

The demographic data were analyzed across all collapsed groups of years of teaching in higher education. The demographic category for years teaching in higher education was collapsed into six groups as follows: 1 = 1-5 years experience, 2 = 6-10

years experience, 3= 11-15 years experience, 4= 16-20 years experience, 5= 21-25 years experience, and 6= 26 or more years experience). The Kruskal-Wallis test for significance was used to determine if significance existed between years of teaching in higher education and each of the composite quality online practices. The Kruskal-Wallis test was utilized because it is often viewed as the nonparametric counterpart to the One Way Analysis of Variance or ANOVA. Each of these tests for significance is used to compare possible differences between means of groups.

#### Analysis of Online Practices and Years Teaching in Higher Education

Based on the Kruskal–Wallis test for significance, the data revealed that there was significance only between rankings of faculty years of teaching in higher education in the composite quality online practice of Collaboration and Teamwork. The remaining seven composite quality online practices yielded no significance at the p.05 level. Table 25 displays the results of the Kruskal-Wallis test comparing the composite quality online practices and the years of teaching in higher education.

Composite Practices	Significance Level	
Institutional Support	.385	
Faculty Support	.090	
Tech Support	.186	
Collaboration and Teamwork	.032**	
Flexibility	.778	
Feedback	.099	
Assessment	.699	
Adult learning Techniques	.847	

Table 25 - Kruskal-Wallis Results Comparing Composite Quality Online Practices and Years Teaching in Higher Education Across All Groups

\*\*Results are significant at the p.05 level.

Further analysis of means reveal faculty who taught in higher education beyond the 1-5 year category had higher mean ranks within the composite practice of Collaboration and Teamwork.

## Analysis of Online Practices and Years Teaching in Online Education

The demographic data were analyzed across all collapsed groups of years of online teaching. The demographic category for years online teaching were collapsed into groups as follows: 1=1-5 years experience, 2=6-10 years experience, 3=11-15 years experience. The Kruskal-Wallis test for significance was used to determine if significance existed between years of online teaching and each of the composite quality online practices.

Based on the Kruskal–Wallis test for significance, the data revealed that there was significance in the following composite quality online practices: institutional support, faculty support, collaboration and teamwork, feedback, and assessment. There was no significance at the p.05 level in the following composite quality online practices: technology support, flexibility, and adult learning techniques. Table 26 displays the results of the Kruskal-Wallis test comparing the composite quality online practices and the years of online teaching.
Composite Practices	Significance Obtained Level	
Institutional Support	.003**	
Faculty Support	.001**	
Tech Support	.148	
Collaboration and Teamwork	.031**	
Flexibility	.414	
Feedback	.003**	
Assessment	.036**	
Adult learning Techniques	.080	

Table 26 - Kruskal-Wallis Results Comparing Composite Quality Online Practices and Years Teaching Online Across All Groups

\*\*Results are significant at the p.05 level.

Further analysis of means reveal faculty who taught online beyond the 1-5 year category had higher mean ranks within the composite categories of institutional support, faculty support, collaboration and teamwork, feedback and assessment.

# Analysis of Open Ended Statements from Survey Respondents

The final area for analysis of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* was an open-ended question for faculty to indicate additional factors that may have promoted or hindered their utilization of quality practices in online education. An analysis of the open-ended responses revealed both positive and negative experiences in the utilization of quality practices in online education.

Based on the responses to the survey, 72 faculty (24.8%) offered comments in the open-ended question area of the survey. Patterns that emerged in the responses yielded the following endorsements and criticisms of practices in online education:

- Faculty stated that online teaching is very applicable to the 21<sup>st</sup> century learner.
- Faculty enjoyed greater flexibility with their online courses.
- Faculty stated that the intrinsic rewards with more direct contact with students is rewarding.

- Faculty indicated their preference was for blended classes and not fully online courses. (e.g. A combination of face-to-face and online classes).
- Faculty are dissatisfied with their compensation for online teaching and online creation.
- Faculty are dissatisfied with the approval process for online courses.
- The orientation to basic operation tools and procedures for online learning are too great for some faculty and some students. Some faculty and some students need additional time and training to be able to successfully work in an online educational environment.
- Faculty consider online teaching is much more labor intensive than face-to-face courses.
- Faculty raised concerns that institutions are more concerned with numbers than quality online instruction.

These endorsements and criticisms appeared to be consistent with variations in individual and composite mean scores obtained in the analysis of the survey.

#### **Chapter Summary**

This chapter presented the analysis of the data that were used to investigate the extent to which higher education faculty in West Virginia agree their online courses reflect the use of best practices. This research utilized a cross-sectional survey entitled the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*. In addition this survey included a section for the collection of selected demographic data that was used for the compilation of characteristics that describe the respondents. The survey also included an open-ended question that provided respondents' additional room to write their own comments.

An analysis of the results was conducted based on the individual statements on the survey and composite groupings of the six quality online practices as defined in the literature review. Descriptive statistical analyses were focused on the statements to determine their individual means, medians and modes. Furthermore, the composite mean and mode were analyzed for the defined quality online education practices. In addition, since this research was a non-parametric descriptive study, the Kruskal-Wallis test was used to determine statistical significance in generalizing the results to the selected population. Based on analysis of the data the following research question was answered:

To what extent do West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect the following quality practices: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques?

The Likert rating scale utilized in the study yielded a composite mean of 3.75, a median of 4.0 and a mode of (5) "Agreement". This quantitative result revealed that overall West Virginia higher education faculty agreed with the statements on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* that their courses reflected quality online practices as supported by the comprehensive literature review.

Nevertheless, it is important to note not all of the data analyzed on the composite practices revealed an approach toward agreement on the Likert scale used in the survey. For example, within the individual statements that make up the composite practice of assessment, statement 19 revealed that 65.1% disagreed that they provide online assessments that address different learning styles and 34.6% of the participants agreed they provide online assessments that address different learning styles. Also, within the

individual statements that make up the composite practice of technology support, statement 8 revealed that 56.4% disagreed their institution provides technological support 24 hours a day for online courses and 43.3% agreed their institution provides technological support 24 hours a day for online courses.

Furthermore, other composite quality online practices were in disagreement with the research question. The composite mean for institutional support had a mean score of 2.97 and a mode of "disagree" on the Likert scale used in the survey. Additionally, the composite mean for collaboration and teamwork had a mean score of 2.88 and a mode of "disagree". All of the individual mean scores and the median score for the statements related to the quality online practice of collaboration and teamwork indicated levels of disagreement on the Likert scale used in the survey. Statement 10 revealed that 71.7% disagreed that their institutions provided mentoring for online instructors and 28.3% of the participants agreed their institutions provided mentoring for online instructors. Statement 11 revealed that 68.2% disagreed their institution allowed other faculty to review their online courses for clarity and consistency and 31.5% agreed their institution allows other faculty to review their online courses for clarity and consistency. Statement 12 revealed that 63.3% disagreed that they worked with instructional designers from their institution to develop their online courses and 36.4% agreed that they worked with instructional designers from their institution to develop their online courses.

The demographic data were analyzed across all collapsed groups of years of teaching in higher education and years of teaching online. The Kruskal-Wallis test for significance was used to determine if significance existed between years of teaching in higher education and each of the composite quality online practices. The Kruskal-Wallis test was also used to determine if significance existed between years of teaching in online education and each of the composite quality online practices had any significance.

Based on the Kruskal–Wallis test for significance in comparing composite quality online practices and years teaching in higher education, the data revealed that there was only significance between rankings of faculty years of teaching in higher education in the composite quality online practice of collaboration and teamwork. The remaining seven composite quality online practices yielded no significance at the p.05 level.

Additionally, based on the Kruskal-Wallis test in comparing composite quality online practices and years teaching online, the data revealed significance with faculty that had taught more than five years in the following composite quality online practices: institutional support, faculty support, collaboration and teamwork, feedback, and assessment. There was no significance at the p.05 level in the following composite quality online practices: technology support, flexibility, and adult learning techniques.

Furthermore, based on the Kruskal-Wallis test for significance analyzed on full time and part-time faculty and all of the individual statements on the survey and revealed no significance at the p.05 level. In addition, the Kruskal-Wallis test yielded no significance at the p.05 level for tenured and non-tenured faculty and all of the individual statements on the survey.

The final area of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* provided an openended question for faculty to indicate additional factors that may have promoted or hindered their utilization of quality practices in online education. Based on responses to the survey, 72 faculty (24.8%) offered comments in the open-ended question area of the survey. There were nine areas that emerged as patterns in the responses. These

103

endorsements and criticisms of practices in online education appeared to be consistent with the variations in individual and composite mean scores obtained in the analysis of the survey. Chapter Five provides conclusions and recommendations based on the results yielded in chapter four.

#### **Chapter Five**

# **Conclusions, Implications and Recommendations**

#### **Overview**

For the past decade, West Virginia higher education institutions have been delivering online education utilizing their own standards for quality online instruction. However, in recent years there has been an increase in the literature that focuses on the need for institutions to adopt a common set of best practice guidelines for online education.

It is important to note that faculty are responsible for the delivery of online instruction and higher education faculty must be rigorous in providing quality educational opportunities to students. Highly effective instructional practices are and will continue to be faculty roles. An extensive review of relevant literature indicates that a limited amount of research has been conducted examining faculty experiences in quality online education. Most support and research has been gathered on student experiences in online instruction. If faculty members understand that teaching online can provide a sound educational opportunity and can enhance the learning experience in higher education, then they will value it as a teaching instrument.

This study was conducted to examine the extent to which West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect best practices, as identified by the literature, for teaching in an online educational environment. The identified best practices are: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques. This research was non-parametric and descriptive in nature. Data were acquired from the survey respondents gained from the 12 West Virginia four year colleges that participated in the study. Of the 545 faculty selected to participate in the study, 290 returned the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* in the first mailing. This represented 53% of the sample population. Although the mailings resulted in 290 returned surveys, the number of responses for each statement on the survey varied due to the nature of a self-reported survey where some of the participants chose not to respond to every item.

The analyses of the data collected from the survey utilized descriptive statistics for measures of central tendency for individual statements and composite groups of statements for testing of the research question. These measurements provided an overall representation of the extent West Virginia higher education faculty agreed their online courses reflected best practices as defined by the literature review.

Furthermore, the demographic data were analyzed across all grouped years of teaching in higher education, grouped years of teaching online, job classification (tenured and non-tenured) and job status (full time and part-time). The Kruskal-Wallis test for significance was used to determine if each of these categories yielded significance between groups on the 24 individual statements and groups within the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*.

Based on the statistical findings, conclusions are stated regarding the extent West Virginia Higher Education faculty agree they are utilizing quality online practices as framed in the literature review and as supported by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions. In addition to the conclusions and implications, recommendations for future research are included. Furthermore, the results of this study add to the body of

106

knowledge by building on the limited research in perceived faculty online practices in quality online instruction.

Based on the analysis of the data the following research question was examined: *To what extent do West Virginia higher education faculty agree their online courses reflect the following quality practices: (a) support, (b) collaboration and teamwork, (c) flexibility, (d) feedback, (e) assessment, and (f) adult learning techniques?* 

Quantitative results revealed that overall West Virginia higher education faculty agreed with the statements on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* that their courses reflected quality online practices as supported by the comprehensive literature review. The Likert rating scale utilized in the study yielded a composite mean of 3.75 and a mode of (5) "Agree". However, not all targeted areas of the survey yielded agreement with the statements on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*. Each of the composite targeted areas are discussed within the conclusions and implications of this study.

#### **Conclusions and Implications**

Based on the statistical findings from the survey, conclusions and implications are drawn regarding the extent West Virginia Higher Education faculty agree they are utilizing quality online practices as framed in the literature review and as supported by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions.

# **Conclusions: Quality Practices of Institutional Support**

Although the study concluded that faculty are in agreement with their online educational practices, there are areas in online practices that call for improvement. For example, according to the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, faculty revealed that intellectual property, compensation issues and institutional oversight were barriers for teaching online. In total, the composite mean was 2.97 and the composite mode was "somewhat disagree" (3) for Institutional Support.

Additionally, the Kruskal-Wallis test for significance revealed that faculty status and job classification have no significant effect on the practices of institutional support, as reported on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*. Furthermore, the Kruskal-Wallis test for significance yielded no significance within the demographic of years teaching in higher education. However, the Kruskal-Wallis test did reveal that faculty who had taught online more than five years reported more satisfaction with the practices of Institutional Support than faculty who had taught less than five years in online education. One possible reason for this finding may be that faculty who have taught online greater than five years may find superior intrinsic rewards for teaching online, such as exceptional experiences with one-to-one communication with students. In fact, Swan et al. (2000) suggested that the more courses were focused on discussion and feedback with the instructor, the greater students and faculty were satisfied with their online courses.

Comments on the survey made by several respondents from the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* provide added evidence that there is a need for improvement in the quality practices of Institutional Support:

Comment: We [faculty] now must spend twice the amount of time with our students with greater numbers [in the class] and fewer monetary incentives to work online.

Comment: Intellectual property is an ongoing issue at our campus, if we create a course it becomes the property of the school and we cannot control course delivery in the future.

Comment: Compensation from institution to institution is varied; the school I work for pays pitifully for online course instruction and development.
Comment: There is little oversight from our institution for online education, courses are becoming cookie cutter templates of one another and have very little to do with quality instruction.

The results from the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* reinforce what the literature indicates as quality practices in institutional support and what faculty perceive they are getting from their institutions. In fact, Schifter (2000) revealed that faculty time, intellectual property, compensation issues and poor institutional oversight were rated as the greatest barriers for teaching online. These quality practices still appear to be a barrier to online education in West Virginia, based on the results from the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*. In fact, the IHEP (2000) asserted that higher education institutions needed to revise policies, procedures, rewards, resources, and training for online education, in order to achieve higher standards.

Thus, if higher education institutions reviewed and revised their online institutional support practices on a regular basis, then perhaps a higher standard of communication, cooperation and satisfaction from faculty could be achieved. One method to ensure and improve institutional support is to embed these institutional support practices in internal professional development workshops and target those faculty who have just started teaching online or have taught online less than five years. An additional method to ensure improvements in institutional support is to provide faculty with greater input in online policies and procedures concerning workloads, compensation issues, and intellectual property agreements.

# **Conclusions: Quality Practices of Faculty Support**

According to the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, West Virginia faculty agreed that their institutions provided quality faculty support in professional development training for: online course creation, hardware and software technologies, and copyright laws related to the development and delivery of online education. The composite mean was 3.65 and the composite mode was "agree" (4) for faculty support.

In addition, the Kruskal-Wallis test revealed that faculty who taught online greater than five years reported more satisfaction with the practices of faculty support than faculty who had taught less than five years in online education. An obvious argument for this finding may be that novice faculty have not experienced many online learning opportunities, adequate training or mentoring programs to competently teach online. Lorenzo (2004) stated that faculty must be given the opportunities for ongoing professional development in order to become proficient in the uses of online technologies.

It appears from the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, that faculty agree with the literature regarding the quality practices in Faculty Support. However, once again, faculty who have taught less than five years online had a greater tendency toward "disagreement" with the practices of faculty support. Garrett & Vogt (2003) suggested that if institutions supported faculty in professional development opportunities then faculty would be further satisfied with online education. In addition, the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools (HLC, 2000) also suggested that institutions should provide appropriate training in copyright and regulatory and legal requirements to faculty who participate in online education.

Comments made by respondents on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* support a need for professional development in the practices of faculty support:

Comment: Faculty do not have the time to continue learning these new online tools. As a new faculty member, I have been tasked to create a course online and I haven't been trained in this computer application.

Comment: Copyrights and regulatory requirements are a big concern for online educators today. Our institution should provide more training opportunities related to these issues.

Benson (2003) suggested that institutions' provisions for orientation and training in technologies and other professional development areas related to online learning would create additional strategies for effective interactions in online delivery. There is always room for improvement, Garrett and Vogt (2003) asserted that higher education organizations can increase participation and faculty satisfaction in online learning by providing faculty with release time during working hours to receive professional development training. If higher education organizations target faculty with less than five years of online experience and provide greater opportunities and release time for ongoing professional development, then faculty may become more proficient in the uses and understanding of online learning.

## Conclusions: Quality Practices Technological Support

Based on the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, West Virginia faculty are in overall agreement that their institutions provided quality technological support in the areas of: easy to use online delivery tools and delivery platforms that rarely have downtime. Although, there was some disagreement with institutions' ability to provide technological support 24 hours a day. However, this did not affect the overall composite analysis, but should be considered as an area of improvement. Overall the composite mean was 3.90 and the composite mode was "agree" (5) for the targeted online practice of technological support.

Brown and Green (2003) state that faculty need to question if the money and time invested in technology are well spent. For example, if we want to have online support 24 hours a day, then the institution should provide the sustainable budget and infrastructure to provide that support 24 hours a day. In fact, Caplan (2004) regards the concept of technology support as an important quality practice in online education and that technological support should always be available if an institution states that its online educational system is available 24 hours a day. Taylor (2004) maintains that technological support must be continuous and that faculty should be able to rely on systems that are ready and available 24 hours a day. Taylor further declared that best practice standards in technological support could provide positive learning experiences for both the student and faculty members.

Comments made by respondents on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* also support a need for institutions to review their technological support practices related to online education: Comment: Our technological team are very helpful when you can reach them! Although, I often need their assistance in the evening or on weekends and it is very difficult to get assistance after hours.

Comment: I can never get through to our tech support. I have to leave messages and they often take over a day to return my calls.

Once again, it appears based on the statistical results from the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, faculty agree with the literature regarding the quality practices in Technological Support. It is also within reason to assume that 24 hour a day technological support is not available in some institutions due to budgetary and resource constraints. For example, resource constraints could be the institutions' Internet providers ability to handle network traffic, or lack of trained personnel for helpdesk support and budgetary constraints could be insufficient funds to sustain the support of the hardware or software necessary to run an online teaching environment. However, according to the literature review, in order to provide best practices in online education it is up to institutions to provide a consistent and coherent technical framework with reasonable technical support for every educational technology hardware, software and delivery system that it uses in online education.

### **Conclusions: Quality Practices of Collaboration and Teamwork**

Anderson and Elloumi (2004) stated that collaboration and teamwork were critical elements in the realm of quality practices to create a successful online learning experience. According to the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, West Virginia faculty were in disagreement their institutions provided the quality practices in faculty mentoring, peer review of online courses, and instructional designer assistance

with course creation. The composite mean was 2.88 and the composite mode was "disagree" (2) for the targeted practice of collaboration and teamwork.

The Kruskal-Wallis test yielded significance within the demographics of years teaching in higher education and with years teaching online. Faculty who had taught online and who had taught in higher education greater than five years reported more satisfaction with the practices of collaboration and teamwork than faculty who had taught less than five years in online education and in higher education.

Some institutions do not provide adequate training or mentoring programs to competently teach online. Benson (2003) stated that if collaborative development were strongly supported at the institutional level, then higher education organizations would be in line with one of the requirements set forth by the Council of Higher Education Accreditation. Benson further stated that if faculty built on the well established tradition of cooperation among faculty and applied this to online education, then the quality of academic offerings would improve regardless of the medium of their delivery.

Based on the results yielded from the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, faculty in West Virginia agree with the literature review regarding the quality practices in collaboration and teamwork. Lorenzo (2003) and Caplan (2004) both argued that if online faculty are mentored by veteran online instructors, then faculty can create valuable partnerships that will help to alleviate the mere replication of face to face instruction in online education. Lorenzo (2003) further stated that it was critical for veteran online faculty to share their online teaching experiences with faculty who are just entering the realm of online teaching to increase the quality of online teaching practices.

114

Collaboration and teamwork between faculty can help further create, analyze and revise a course to better meet the instructional needs of an online learner (Kidney & Puckett, 2003). Furthermore collaborative efforts and teamwork can force faculty to evaluate their online courses often and make adjustments to the learning content each time it is taught, thus reducing the negative impact of online course decay or "in-the-can" syndrome. Although, it is reasonable to assume that because some universities use off the shelf online teaching applications and have tight budget constraints, roles for online creation, such as instructional designers, may not be necessary. However, research still stresses that mentoring programs or small faculty group collaborative efforts to produce and instruct online courses are valuable and make a high quality practice in online education.

Comments on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* also support a need for professional development in the practices of collaboration and teamwork:

Comment: The process to get a course online needs to be streamlined. I also do not want other faculty to review my online courses.
Comment: I never allow other faculty to review my online courses.
Comment: Unfortunately, our school does not have an instructional designer, at

least I do not think so, when I create a course, I often feel as if I am running uphill in sand!

If higher education organizations target the practices of collaboration and teamwork with their faculty and create opportunities for teambuilding and mentoring related to online instruction then faculty may have a more successful online teaching experience and feel more satisfied with the framework of their courses. Johnson and Aragon (2003) have claimed that in order to create quality content and assessments it is a best practice for faculty to be flexible enough to allow other online stakeholders to review and help retool online content in order to keep content from growing stale.

## **Conclusions: Quality Practices of Flexibility**

Based on the results of the Survey of Online Educational Practices, West Virginia faculty are in agreement they utilize the quality practices of flexibility within their online courses. The composite mean was 4.04 and the composite mode was "agree" (5) for the targeted quality practice of flexibility. However, there was disagreement with faculty allowing students to play a significant role in course content and assessment, with a mean of 3.49. Although this particular mean did not affect the overall composite analysis, according to the literature faculty could improve their online practices by allowing students to play a greater role in course content and assessment. In fact, Rumbel (1999) suggested that allowing students to become more involved in a course is a shift from a transmission model of education toward a constructivist model that exploits the full use of computer mediated communication. Hiss (2000) further declared that students can often be more informed about a particular subject matter than the faculty member teaching an online course. As a quality online practice, faculty should not feel threatened and be flexible enough to allow students to bring their knowledge and experiences to an online course.

Although some of the comments on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* support the acceptance of the online practices of flexibility, it is apparent from some of the responses that faculty still need to consider allowing students to play a greater role in

116

course content and assessments. Listed below are a few endorsements and criticisms for the practices of flexibility:

Comment: I am never flexible with course work deadlines. Students always try to take advantage of you, if you are flexible with course due dates. Comment: I did not create this course, so I am not allowed to let students do anything other than read the material and take the test. It is such a shame, because this course could be so much more!

Comment: My students have given me many great ideas for improving the course for successful learning. I always listen to my students and I often let them decide their final projects and how they wish to be graded.

Comment: It is imperative for a successful online experience that I come to an agreement at the beginning of the course with the students how they should be graded and just how many collaborative projects they will have together.

In actuality, the ability to create a flexible online course and syllabus can motivate faculty to move away from a linear module design to a more engaged model of teaching (Kidney & Puckett, 2003). Huber and Lowry (2003) also indicated that enabling students to give their own experiences and prompt them for feedback related to the design and implementation of a course could help to set up a positive co-learning experience. Thus, if faculty target their online practices of flexibility to include greater input from students, more opportunities for the exploration of topics and interactivity, then faculty and students should have a greater capacity for positive online educational experiences.

## **Conclusions: Quality Practices of Feedback**

According to the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, West Virginia faculty were in agreement they provided quality feedback in online teaching practices. The composite mean was 4.54 and the composite mode was "agree" (6) for the targeted online practice of feedback.

The Kruskal-Wallis test did disclose that faculty who had taught online more than five years utilized the quality practices of feedback greater than faculty who had taught less than five years in online education. One possible reason for this finding may be faculty with less than five years of online experiences have not yet established response time parameters with their students.

White and Weight (2000) stated that it is imperative that guidelines and deadlines should be set up early in the course for a positive communication experience. Chickering and Ehrmann (1996) also declared that feedback at appropriate times resulted in a higher degree of student satisfaction. Although, Hacker and Niederhauser (2000) have suggested that faculty need to be careful about not giving students too much feedback. In fact Hacker and Niederhauser suggested that too much feedback can actually hamper online learning. Thus, it is important to have a balance of feedback with students. Depree (1998) also stated that it is important that feedback be supportive and constructive. Schwarz and White (2000) stated that feedback needed to be summative and formative and that faculty should always provide detailed constructive feedback.

The respondents of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* appear to be in concert with the practices of feedback and many faculty seemed to enjoy their ability to interact with students with greater detail as listed in the comments below:

Comment: I am delighted that so many students email me frequently with questions. I enjoy the interactions that I have with my students online.
Comment: I think that the biographical area of my online course is great, I even created a discussion area just so students could "sound off" with each other.
Online education will often allow shy students to interact more with others.

There are a multitude of online feedback characteristics that can help sculpt the learning process. One method to accomplish this is to provide ongoing feedback to students that is supportive, constructive and timely. Berge (1998) stated that faculty who are teaching in an online environment should strive to provide an equivalent experience to face-to-face teaching not an equal experience. In other words, both online courses and face to face courses can achieve course objectives; however the methods used to teach students via online can be significantly different than teaching in a face to face course. If faculty who had greater online learning experiences collaborated and mentored faculty with less online experience and shared their ideas about the quality practices of feedback then perhaps online learning experiences might be enhanced for faculty just beginning to teach online.

# **Conclusions: Quality Practices of Assessments**

Proponents of online education have asserted that faculty already include educational theory in online learning experiences. However, Speck (2002) indicated that this assumption is not necessarily the case in online education. Speck suggested that whatever educational theory was applied to a given online course then assessment must be tied to it. In other words the approach to online learning assessment should be tied to a coherent theory of learning. According to the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, West Virginia faculty approached agreement they provided the quality practices of authentic assessments. The composite mean was 3.51 and the composite mode was "agree" (4) for the targeted quality practice of assessment. However, there was considerable disagreement with faculty providing assessments that addressed different learning styles with a mean of 2.85. Additionally faculty had some disagreement with collaborative assessment activities with a mean of 3.23. These responses of disagreement do not concur with the literature. Johnson and Aragon (2003) claimed that in order to create quality assessments, two key elements were providing collaborative learning opportunities and addressing individual differences. Branzburg (2001) declared that discussions and group work were essential to online course effectiveness. In addition, Mills (2002) stated that in order to create a more positive learning environment, then assessment required variation, creativity and often needed to address the different learning styles of students.

The Kruskal-Wallis test did reveal that faculty who had taught online greater than five years reported more satisfaction with the practices of assessment than faculty who had taught less than five years in online education. Muirhead (2000) reported that quality assessment was a constant source of concern for online instructors. Perhaps faculty who have less experience with online education are more concerned with academic honesty and integrity and feel that timed tests provide a strategic means to detect and prevent academic dishonesty. However, Heberling (2002) concluded that with experience faculty begin to take into account the challenges and barriers to online assessment. Comments made by respondents on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* support a need for professional development in the practices of Assessment:

Comment: Because online learning is so labor intensive, I fear that many faculty on my campus, simply encourage test taking in their assessment strategies. Comment: Although teaching online is applicable to the student of today, I do not believe that faculty try to employ any different assessment strategies. Most of my colleagues still give multiple choice tests and short answer quizzes to their students.

Although, these comments do not appear to represent the overall tendency based on the results from the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*; which indicate faculty have a tendency toward agreement with the literature regarding the practices in assessment. However, once again, faculty who taught less than five years online had a greater tendency toward "disagreement" with the practices of assessment. Clearly online assessment is not without its problems although, according to the literature, if online learning is tied to active processes, constructivism and adult learning techniques; then given the advantages and disadvantages of online learning, assessment in an online course can be just as vigorous and meaningful as in a face-to-face classroom.

Therefore, it is important to allow faculty the time to explore the blending of effective learning theory tied to assessment to maximize the effectiveness of online education. Faculty must also learn to bind their assessments to explicitly stated learning outcomes. This can be accomplished by providing targeted professional development opportunities that focus on online education assessment strategies and through mentoring programs that allow experienced online instructors to work with new online educators. In fact, Paloma and Banta (1999) asserted that effective assessment strategies needed strong faculty buy-in with online learning environments and that multiple methods should be used with formulating online assessments. Thus, not only helping students to obtain information, but to gain a clear understanding of what they know and why they know it.

# **Conclusions: Quality Practices of Adult Learning Techniques**

Based on the results of the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*, West Virginia faculty yielded agreement that they provided adult learning techniques within their online courses. The composite mean was 4.47 and the composite mode was "agree" (5) for the targeted quality practice of adult learning techniques.

It is implied from this study that West Virginia higher education faculty create and deliver courses that are directed to the non-traditional adult learner. In fact, Charp (2000) indicated that people of all ages are beginning to choose nontraditional education to start and advance their careers. The Sloan Consortium (2005) also indicated that adults are looking for new avenues to further their education and this is one of the driving forces behind the startling rate of growth of online learners. Bedore et al. (1997) insisted that to ensure quality online teaching, faculty should utilize adult learning techniques as part of a regimen of best practices in online learning.

In fact the endorsements made by respondents on the *Survey of Online Educational Practices* support the quality practices of Adult Learning Techniques:

Comment: I love teaching online, it can be such a collaborative learning adventure with adults; often my students bring so much information and real world scenarios to the class that we just could not get without their input!. Comment: Teaching adults is far different online than I expected. First of all, most of my students are highly motivated to learn, so it is critical that I act as a facilitator rather than a lecturer in my online course.

However, Cassidy (2003) suggested that not all learners are ready or able to be highly self-directed at all time. In fact faculty should continually monitor their online students individually to facilitate successful learning. Cassidy (2003) further stated that social interaction and individual support should be given to students who need it. Bedore et al. (1997) also suggest that to ensure quality online teaching faculty should not only utilize adult learning techniques for online assignments, but they must flow through assessment as well. For instance, if a structured behaviorist teaching strategy in an online course is used, then the method of assessment should be behaviorist as well. Yet literature suggests that providing a constructivist approach goes hand-in-hand with adult learning and that in order for online courses to be successful a best practice would be to utilize the theory of constructivism in the creation of an online course.

Although there are a myriad of adult learning techniques, the literature suggests that collaborative learning and a student centered approach can create a positive online experience and should be considered a quality practice in online education. Higher education faculty should continue to target their online development and delivery practices. This can be accomplished with the utilization of adult learning techniques that continue to explore the use of flexibility, team projects, collaborative assignments, case studies and real-world simulations within their online courses. Palloff and Pratt (2001) also asserted that in order to provide positive learning experiences with students then

faculty must interact with their students and use adult learning techniques within a constructivist approach to extend students critical thinking skills.

### **Summary and Recommendations for Further Study**

High quality in online teaching requires more than supplying a set of assignments to students and testing their ability to retain information. Quality online practices require practical virtual classroom skills and a deep understanding of various instructional methods and techniques to help students learn. Although there is overall agreement that West Virginia higher education faculty adhere to quality online practices as delineated in the literature; participants in the study indicated a number of disagreements with the literature concerning their use of quality online educational practices. There was also disagreement that institutions provide the infrastructure and policies needed to have a quality online education. Throughout the data, the respondents to the study appeared to utilize the quality online practices of feedback, flexibility, assessment, faculty support, technological support, and adult learning techniques. Nonetheless, there is evidence from the survey results that indicate the areas of institutional support, collaboration and teamwork and even areas of assessment that are not well utilized by faculty. Therefore, although not statistically conclusive, it is implied from this study that these areas of quality online educational practices are not being fully integrated in West Virginia online educational opportunities.

It is recommended by this study that all of these quality online teaching strategies as detailed in this study be used to meet the needs of quality online instruction. In addition, institutions must provide the infrastructure for a sustainable quality online teaching environment. Although it is true that no solitary online instructional practice or strategy is superior to any other online practice; there are quality online practices that are supported by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions and supported by educational literature. This research provided insight into the extent to which faculty agreed they utilized quality online practices. However, as with any social science study further questions developed from this study might be answered through additional research. Recommendations for further study are as follows:

- A study should be conducted at the institutional level regarding faculty satisfaction with online education. This could include comparisons with the guidelines set forth by Regional Accrediting Commissions and faculty experiences. Additionally, studies could include a review of the funding and budgetary models and policies related to online learning across the state that may provide a framework for a sustainable model for other states to follow.
- An important characteristic of quality online practice is an ongoing self
  evaluation system of high quality online practices. This research indicates
  that institutions do not provide adequate oversight in online education.
  Further studies, should investigate an effective experimental model of
  oversight and self-evaluation systems for quality online practices.
- As more institutions are under scrutiny for accreditation purposes related to online learning and in view of the fact that online learning is a dynamic model; a reinvestigation of future "quality online practices" and "online learning models" should be examined including faculty and students.

- Further studies should be conducted in the area of professional development and mentoring programs offered by institutions related to online education. Additionally, sex differences were not analyzed as part of this study, thus studies could be conducted to examine differences in teaching strategies related to sex in quality online teaching practices.
- One of the goals of quality online education is to increase the amount of collaboration and teamwork that faculty have related to their online educational experiences. Further studies should be conducted in the area of faculty collaboration and teamwork to determine the areas of weakness and examine factors that contribute to greater efforts made in the area of faculty collaboration development.
- Findings from this study suggest that additional research into the actual online teaching practices of faculty in a qualitative research study may reveal additional quality online practices or a greater disconnect between what faculty self-report in a survey and what they are actually facilitating in an online environment.
- A study over an extended period of time could be conducted between students in an online course and faculty members in an online course to determine from the students point of view, if the faculty members are utilizing quality online practices.

# REFERENCES

- Achtemeier, S.D., Morris, L.V., & Finnegan, C.L. (2003). Considerations for Developing Evaluations of Online Courses. Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 7(1), Retrieved September 19, 2005 from: http://www.sloanc.org/publications/jaln/v7n1/pdf/v7n1\_achtemeier.pdf
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2003). Seizing the opportunity: The quality and extent of online education in the United States, 2002 and 2003. The Sloan Consortium, Needham, Massachusetts. Retrieved April 10, 2005 from http://www.sloan-c.org.
- Allen, M.J., & Yen, W.M. (2002) Introduction to Measurement Theory. Long Grove, IL. Waveland Press
- Anderson, R. S. (1998). Why Talk about Different Ways to Grade? The Shift from Traditional Assessment to Alternative Assessment. In R.S. Anderson and B. W. Speck (eds.), Changing the Way We Grade Student Performance: Classroom Assessment and the New Learning Paradigm. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, no. 74, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Anderson, T., & Elloumi, F. (Eds). (2004). Theory and Practice of Online Learning. Athabasca, Canada: Athabasca University.
- Anderson, T., & Kanuka, H. (2002). *E-research: Issues, strategies and methods.* Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Aragon, S.R. (2003). Creating Social Presence in Online Environments. In Steven R. Aragon (eds.) Facilitating Learning in Online Environments. New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education. no. 100, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass. 127

- Ascough, R.S. (2002). Designing for online distance education: Putting pedagogy before technology. *Teaching Theology and Religion*, 5(1), 17-29.
- Babbie, E.R. (1973) *Survey research methods*. Belmount, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company, Inc.
- Bedore, G., Bedore, M., & Bedore, Jr., G. (1997). Online education. The future is now. Academic Research and Technologies Press, Phoenix, AZ.
- Benson, A. (2003). Dimensions of Quality in Online Degree Programs. *The American Journal of Distance Education*. 17(3), 145-159.
- Berdie, D.R., Anderson, J.F., & Niebuhr, M.A. (1986). *Questionnaires: Design and Use* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Metuchen, NJ. Scarecrow Press.
- Berge, Z.L., & Collins, M.P. (Eds.). (1995). Computer Mediated Communication and the Online Classroom Vol.2. Higher Education, Cresskill, N. J., Hampton Press
- Berge, Z. L. (1998). Barriers to online teaching in post-secondary institutions: Can policy changes fix it? *The Online Journal of Distance Education Administrators 1(2)*.
  Retrieved August 17, 2005 from: <u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/Berge12.html</u>.
- Berge, Z.L. (2000) Components of the Online Classroom. In R.E. Weiss, D.S. Knowlton,
  &B.W. Speck, (Eds). New Directions for Teaching and Learning: Principles of
  Effective Teaching in the Online Classroom, 84(1), 23-28.

Betts, K.S. (1998). An institutional overview: Factors influencing faculty participation in distance education in postsecondary education in the United States: An institutional study. *The Online Journal of Distance Education Administrators* 3(1). Retrieved August 25, 2005 from:

http://www.estga.edu/~distance/betts13.html.

- Bloom, B. (1956). Ed. Taxonomy of Educational Objectives: The Classification of Educational Goals, Handbook 1: Cognitive Domain, New York: David Mckay.
- Blum, K. D. (1999). Gender differences in asynchronous learning in higher education:
   Learning styles, participation barriers and communication patterns. *Journal of Asynchronous Networks*, 3(1), p.14, Article 5. Retrieved September 15, 2005
   from: http://www.aln.org/publications/jaln/v3n1/pdf/v3n1\_blum.pdf
- Bower, B.L. (2001). *Distance Education: Facing the Faculty Challenge*. Retrieved September 9, 2006 from:

http://distance.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/summer42/bower42.pdf

- Boyer, N. R. (2001). Building online learning: System insights into group learning in an international online environment. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 63(02), 476. (UMI. No. 3041093)
- Bransford, J.D. Brown, A.L. & Cocking, R.R. (Eds). (1999). How People Learn: Brain, Mind, Experience, and School. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Branzburg, J. (2001). How Well Is It Working? Customizing Your Technology Assessment. *Technology and Learning*, 7(21), 24.
- Brown, A., & Green, T. (2003). Showing up to class in pajamas (or less!): The fantasies and realities of online professional development courses for teachers. *The Clearing House*, *76*(3), 433-72.
- Brown, G., Myers, C.B., & Roy, S. (2003). Formal Course Design and the Student Learning Experience. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 7(3)
  Retrieved November 5, 2005, from http: <u>http://www.sloan-</u> c.org/publications/jaln/v7n3/v7n3\_myers.asp#myers4.

- Buck, J. (2001). Assuring Quality in Distance Education. *Higher Education in Europe*, 26, (4), 599-602.
- Campbell, D., & Stanley, J. (1963). *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research*. Chicago: Rand McNally.
- Caplan, D. (2004). The Development of Online Courses. In T. Anderson& F. Elloumi (Eds), *Theory and Pracitce of Online Learning*. Athabasca, Canada: Athabasca University. Retrived April 15, 2005 from:

http://cde.athabascau.ca/online\_book/ch7.html.

- Carr-Chellman, A.A., & Duchastel, P. (2000). The ideal online course. *British Journal of Educational Technology.* 31(3), 200-241.
- Cassidy, P.S. (2003) Andragogy: Hit and Myth. *E-College Archives*. Retrieved Oct 28, 2005 from: <u>http://www.ecollege.com/news/EdVoice\_arch\_0226.learn</u>.
- Chambers, C. (1997). Why the Web? Linkages. Paper presented at the Potential of the Web, Institute for Distance Education, University of Maryland, University College, Adelphi. M.D.
- Charp, S. (2000). Distance Education. THE Journal 27(9) 10-12.
- Chickering, A. W. & Ehrmann, S. C. (1996). Implementing the Seven Principles: Technology as Lever. AAHE Bulletin. Retrieved Aug 3, 2005, from: <u>http://www.clt.astate.edu/clthome/resources.htm</u>

Chickering, A.W, & Gamson, Z.F., (1987). Seven Principles for Good Practice in Undergraduate Education. Retrieved July 18, 2005, from: <u>http://www.hcc.hawaii.edu/intranet/committees/FacDevCom/guidebk/teachtip/7pr</u> <u>incip.htm</u>

- Clark, D. (1999). Getting Results with Distance Education. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, *12(1)*, 38-51.
- Clark, D. (2002). Psychological myths in e-learning. *Medical Teacher*, 24(6), 598-604.
- Clay, M. (1999). Development of training and support programs for distance education instructors. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 2(3). Retrieved February 24, 2005 from: http://www.westga.edu/~distance/clay23.html
- Clement, F.J. (1985). The Rule of Seven Revisited. *Performance and Instruction Journal*, 24(2), 6-8.
- Collison, G., Elbaum, B., Haavind, S., & Tinker, R. (2000). Facilitating Online Learning: Effective Strategies for Moderators. Madison, WI., Atwood Publishing.

Conceicao-Runlee, & S., Daley, B. (1998). *Constructivist learning theory to web-based design: An instructional design approach*. Midewest Research-to-Practice Conference Proceedings. Retrieved October 30, 2005 from:

http://www.bsu.edu/teachers/departments/edld/conf/constructionism.html.

- Conway, E.D. (2003) Teaching Strategies for Distance Education: Implementing the Seven Principles for Good Practice in Online Education. Paper presented at the 5<sup>th</sup> annual Science, Engineering and Technology Education Conference. New Mexico State University, N.M.
- Cortina, J.M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(1), 98-104.
- Council for Higher Education Accreditation [CHEA](1998). Assuring quality in distance learning. Washing, DC: Institute for Higher Education Policy. Retrived April, 8, 2005 from: <u>http://www.chea.org/untitled\_folder/Chronicle/vol1/no11/index.cfm</u>.

Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions [C-RAC] (2003). A Guide for Institutions and Evaluators. Retrieved Oct 9, 2005 from:

http://www.anokaramsey.edu/resources/pdf/assessment/assessmentguidecrac.pdf

- Creswell, J.W. (2005). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research 2ed. Pearson Press, Upper Saddle River, N.J.
- Cuban, L. (2001). Oversold and underused. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Dabbagh, N., & Bannan-Ritland B. (2005). *Online Learning: Concepts, Strategies, and Application.* Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River, N.J.
- Dennis, M. (2003). Nine Higher Education trends and how they will affect you. *Distance Education Report*, 7(10), 6.
- Depree, J. (1998). Small-group instruction: Impact on basic Algebra students. *Journal* of Developmental Education, 22 (1), 2-6.
- De Simone, C., Schmid, R. & Lou, Y. (2000). A distance education course: A voyage using computer-mediated communication to support meaningful learning. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Education Research Association, New Orleans, La. April 2000.
- Deubel, P. (2003). Learning from reflections- issues in building quality online courses.
   Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 6(3). Retrieved March 22,
   2005 from: <u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/fall63/deubel63.html</u>
- Dillon, C. L, & Blachard, D. (1991). Education for each: learner driven distance education. Second American Symposium on Research in Distance Education. University Park, PA.

- Donlevy, J. (2003). Online learning in virtual High school. *International Journal of Instructional Media*, 30(2), 117-121.
- Edwards, H., Webb, G. & Murphy, D. (2000). Modeling practice- Academic development for flexible learning. *The International Journal for Academic Development*, 5(2), 149-155.
- Egbert, J., & Thomas, M. (2001). The New Frontier: A Case Study in Applying Instructional Design for Distance Teacher Education. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 9(3), 391-405
- Fein, A. D., & Logan, M.C. (2003). Preparing Instructors for Online Instruction. In Steven R. Aragon (Ed). New Directions for Teaching and Learning: Facilitating Learning in Online Environments, 100(1), 45-55.
- Ford, M. (2002). Preparing Students for Assessment in the Online Classroom. In R.S. Anderson, John F. Bauer and B. W. Speck (eds.), Assessment Strategies for the Online Class: From Theory to Practice. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, no. 91, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Gall, M. D., Borg, W.R., & Gall, J.P. (1996). *Education Research: An Introduction*. (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). White Plains, NY, Longman Press.
- Galusha, J. M. (1997). Barriers to Learning in Distance Education. *Interpersonal Computing and Technology: An Electronic Journal for the 21st Century*. 5(3/4), 6-14.

- Garrett, L.A., & Vogt, C.L. (2003). Meeting the Needs of Consumers: Lessons from Business and Industry. In Steven R. Aragon (eds.) *Facilitating Learning in Online Environments*. New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education. no. 100, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Garrison, R., Cleveland-Innes, M., & Fung, T. (2004). Student role adjustment in online communities of inquiry: model and instrument validation. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 8(2), 61-74
- Gaud, W.S. (1999). Assessing the impact of Web Courses. Syllabus, 13(4), 49-50.
- Gibbons, H.S., Wentworth,G.P. (2004). Online Facilitator Training: The Importance of Learning to Teach Online. Presented at the Blackboard Southeast Users Group 2004. Retrieved Oct 12, 2006 from:

http://cit.duke.edu/bbseug/presentation\_materials/gibbons-wentworth.ppt.

- Gibson, I. S., O'Reilly, C., & Hughes, M. (2002). Integration of ICT within a projectbased learning environment. European Journal of Engineering Education, 27(1), 21-30.
- Graham, C., Cagiltay, K., Craner, Jl, Lim, B., & Duffy, K., (2000). *Teaching in a Web Based Distance Learning Environment: An Evaluation Based on Four Courses.*CRLT Technical Report No. 13-00, Bloomington: Indiana University Center for Research on Learning and Technology.
- Green, K. C. (1999). When Wishes Come True: Colleges and the Convergence of Access, Lifelong Learning, and Technology. *Change*, *31*(2), 11-15.
- Hacker, D.J., Niederhauser, D.S. (2000) Promoting deep and durable learning in the online classroom. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*. 84(1) 53-64.
- Hanna, D., Glowacki-Dudka, M., & Conceicao-Runlee, S. (2000). 147 practical tips for teaching online groups: Essentials of web-based education. Madison, WI, Atwood Publishing.
- Hanson, J. (2004.). Developing a Strategic Approach to Using Online Learning in Vocational Higher Education: Using Action Research to Identify Factors Affecting its Adoption by Lecturers. In: A.J. Kallenberg and M.J.J.M. van de Ven (Eds), 2002, The New Educational Benefits of ICT in Higher Education. Retrieved November 24, 2006 from http: //ep.eur.nl/bitstream/1765/1256/1/34+Developing+a+Strategic+Approach +to+Using+Online+Learning.pdf.
- Harasim, L. (1989). Online education: A new domain. In R. Mason and A. Kaye (eds)Mindweave, Communications, Computers and Distance Education. Oxford,Pergamon Press, pp. 50-62.
- Harvey, D. (2002). A new technology-first framework for the future design of online learning. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 3(1), 59-64.
- Heberling, M. (2002). Maintaining academic integrity in online education. Online jJournal of Distance Learning Administration. 5(2) Retrieved November 27, 2006 from http: // www.westga.edu/%7Edistance/ojdla/spring51/.spring51
- Henderson, B. (1998). *The components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet*. Centre for the Study of Co-operatives; 98-02, Retrieved on May 18, 2006 from: <u>http://www.usaskstudies.coop/pdf-files/Components.pdf</u>

 Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.
 [HLC] (2000). Best Practices for Electronically Offered Degree and Certificate Programs. Retrieved October 3, 2006 from:

Http://www.ncahigherlearningcommission.org/resources/electronic\_degree/

- Hiss, A. (2000). Talking the Talk: Humor and other forms of online communication. InK. White and K. Weight's (Eds.) *The Online Teaching Guide: A Handbook ofAttitudes, Strategies, And Techniques for the Virtual Classroom.* (pp 167-182).
- Hoostein, E. (2002). Wearing Four Paris of Shoes: The Roles of E-Learning Facilitators.
   Learning Circuits by American Society for Training and Development. Retrieved
   November 14, 2006 from <a href="http://learningcircuits.org/2002/oct2002/elearn.html">http://learningcircuits.org/2002/oct2002/elearn.html</a>.
- Huber, H. E., & Lowry, J.C. (2003). Meeting the Needs of Consumers: Lessons from Postsecondary Environments. In Steven R. Aragon (Ed). *New Directions for Teaching and Learning: Facilitating Learning in Online Environments, 100(1)*, 79-89.
- Husmann, D., & Miller, M. (2001). Improving Distance Education: Perceptions of Program Administrators. *The Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration. IV (II)*. Retrieved June 5, 2005, from:

http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/spring41/husmann41.html

Institution of Higher Education Policy [IHEP] (2000). *Quality on the line: Benchmarks* for the success in Internet-base distance education. Retrieved March 25, 2005 from: <u>http://www.ihep.com/Pubs/PDF/Quality.pdf</u>

- Jiang, M., & Ting, E. (1999). A study of students perceived learning in a web-based online environment. Paper presented at the Webnet World Conference, Honolulu, Hawaii, October 1999.
- Johnson, S.D. (1997) Learning Technological Concepts and Developing Intellectual Skills. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 7(1), 161-180.
- Johnson, S.D., & Aragon, S.R. (2003). An Instructional Strategy Framework for Online Learning Environments. In Steven R. Aragon (eds.) Facilitating Learning in Online Enviroments. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*. *Winter*(2003) (100), 31-44.
- Jonassen, D. H. (1995). Supporting communities of learners with technology: a vision for intergrating technology in learning schools. *Educational Technology*, *35*(4), 60-62.
- Keegan, D. (1996). Foundations of Distance Education. (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Routledge, New York, NY.
- Kerlinger, F.N. (1964). *Foundations of behavioral research*. New York, NY: Holt, Rinehert and Winston, Inc.
- Kidney, G., & Puckett, E. (2003). Rediscovering the first principles through online learning. *Quarterly Review of distance Education*, 4(1), 203-212.
- Knowles, M. (1980). *The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to androgogy*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) New York: Cambridge Books.
- Knowles, M. (1992). Applying principles of adult learning in conference presentations. *Adult Learning*, *4*(*1*), 11-14.

- Knowles, M.S., Holton, E.F.,III, & Swanson, R.A. (1998). The adult learning. The definitive classic in adult education and human resource development (5<sup>th</sup> ed). Texas: Gulf Publishing Company.
- Law, J., Hawkes, L., & Murphy, C. (2003). Assessing the Online Degree Program. In R.S. Anderson, John F. Bauer and B. W. Speck (eds.), Assessment Strategies for the Online Class: From Theory to Practice. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, no. 91, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Lorenzo, G. (2004). UMASS Lowell Online Teaching Institute Engages Faculty. *Educational Pathways*. Retrieved October 3, 2005 from:

http://www.edupath.com/umass.htm.

- Lynn, M. (1986). Determination and quantification of content validity. *Nursing Research.* 35, 382-385.
- Marchese, T.J. (1997). The New Conversations About Learning: Insights from Neuroscience and Anthropology, Cognitive Science and Work-Place Studies." In
  B. Cambridge (ed.) Assessing Impact: Evidence and Action, Washington, D.C.: American Association for Higher Education.
- McAlister, M.K., Rivera, J.C., & Hallam, S.F. (2001). Twelve important questions to answer before you offer web based curriculum. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 4(2).* Retrieved November 24, 2006 from <u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/summer42/mcalister42.html</u>.
- McCullen, C. (2002). Professonal development: It's about time. *Tech learning*. Retrieved November 19, 2004 from <a href="http://www.techlearning.com">http://www.techlearning.com</a>

- McGreal, R., & Elliott, M. (2004). Technologies of online Learning(e-learning). In T.
  Anderson & F. Elloumi (Eds), *Theory and Pracitce of Online Learning*.
  Athabasca, Canada: Athabasca University. (pp 115-135)
- McKenzie, B. K. (2000). Needs, Concerns and Practices of OnLine Instructors. Online Journal of Distant Education. 3(3). Retrieved October 15, 2005 from <u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/fall33/mckenzie33.html</u>.
- Merriam, S. B., & Brockett, R.G. (1997). *The profession and practice of adult education*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Mills, K (2002). Distance learning online education has become part of the landscape. *National Crosstalk*, *10*(1), 8-10.
- Muirhead, W.D. (2000). Online education in School. *The International Journal of Educational Management*, 14(7), 315-324.
- Newberry, B. (2001). *Raising Student Social Presence in Online Classes*. In WebNet 2001. Proceedings for the World Conference on the WWW and Internet. Norfolk, Va: AACE
- Norton, P., & Wiburg, K. (1998). *Teaching with Technology*. Fort Worth, Tx: Harcourt Brace.
- Offir, B. & Lev, J. (2000). Constructing an aid for evaluating teache-learner interactions in distance learning. *Education Media International*, *37*(2), 91-97.

Olt, M. (2002). Ethics and distance education: Strategies for minimizing academic dishonesty in online assessment. Online Journal of Distance learning Administration, 5(3). Retrieved June 15, 2006 from <a href="http://www.westga.edu/~distance/fall53/olt53.html">http://www.westga.edu/~distance/fall53/olt53.html</a>.

- Palloff, R.& Pratt, K. (1999). *Building learning communities in cyberspace*. SanFrancisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Palloff, R.,& Pratt, K. (2001). *Lessons from the cyberspace classroom*. San Franciso: Jossey-Bass.
- Palmer, P. (2000). In Hanna, D., Glowacki-Dudka, Conceicao-Runlee, S. (2000). 147
  practical tips for teaching online groups: Essentials of web-based education.
  (Forward) Madison, WI, Atwood Publishing.
- Palomba, C.A., & Banta, T.W. (1999). Assessment Essentials, Fan Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Picciano, A.(2001). Distance Learning: Making Connections Across Virtual Space and Time. Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Prentice Hall.
- Roberts, S.K. (1999). A Survey of Accrediting Agency Standards and Guidelines forDistance Education. *Theological Education*, 36(1)

Rosie, A. (2000). Deep Learning. Active Learning in Higher Education, 1 (1), 45-59.

- Rubio, D.M., Berg-Weger, M., Tebb, S.S., Lee, S.S., & Rauch, S. (2003). Objectifying Content Validity: Conducting a content validity study in social work research. *Social Work Research*, 22(2), 94-105.
- Rumble, G. (1999). Technology, distance education, and cost. *Journal of Education and Development in the Caribbean*, *3*(2), 91-104.
- Rumble, G. (2001). Re-inventing distance education, 1071-2001. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 20(1/2), 31-43.
- Salkind, N.J. (2004). *Statistics for people who think they hate statistics* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Salmon, G. (2000). E-Moderating: The key to teaching and learning online. London: United Kindom, Kogan Page Press.
- Schifter, C.C. (2000). Faculty motivators and inhibitors for participation in distance education. *Education Technology*, *40*(2), 43-46.
- Schulte, M.A. (2002). University instructor's perceptions of factors in distance education transactions. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Kansas State University.
- Schwartz, F., & White, K. (2000). Making Sense of It All: Giving and Getting Online Course Feedback. In K. White and K. Weight's (Eds.) *The Online Teaching Guide: A Handbook of Attitudes, Strategies, And Techniques for the Virtual Classroom.* (pp 167-182).
- Schweizer, H. (1999). *Designing and Teaching an Online Course: Spinning Your Web Classroom*. Needham Heights, Mass: Allyn and Bacon.
- Selfe, C. (1999). Technology & Literacy in the twenty-first century. Carbondale, IL. Southern Illinois University Press.
- Serwatka, J. A. (1999). Internet distance learning: How do I put my course on the Web? *THE Journal*, *26* (*10*), 71-75.
- Sherry, L.C., & Morse, R.A. (1995). An Assessment of Training Needs in the Use of Distance Education for Instruction. *International Journal of Educational Telecommunications*. 1(1), 5-22.

- Simon, M. (2000). Managing Time: Developing effective online organization. In K..W. White & B. H. Weights (eds) *The online teaching guide: A handbook of attitudes, strategies, and techniques for the virtual classroom.* Needham heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon. pp. 73-82.
- Simonson, M. (2000). Making Decisions: The Use of Electronic Technology in Online Classrooms. In R. Weiss, D. Knowlton, and B. Speck (eds.), *Principles of Effective Teaching in the Onlie Classroom*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Sloan-Consortium (2002) *Elements of Quality Online Education*. SCOLE Publishing, Needham, MA.
- Sloan-Consortium (2004) Entering the Mainstream: The quality and Extent of Online Education in the United States, 2003 and 2004. Retrieved on January 17, 2005 from: <u>http://www.sloan-c.org/publications/survey/pdf/entering\_mainstream.pdf</u>
- Sloan-Consortium. (2005).Growing by Degrees: Online Education in the United States, 2005. Retrieved on May 5, 2006 from: <u>http://www.sloan-</u>

c.org/publications/survey/pdf/growing\_by\_degrees.pdf

- Smith, M.L., & Glass, G.V. (1987). Research and evaluation in education and the social sciences. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Southern Regional Education Board (2001). *Principles of Good Practice*: Educational Technology Cooperative. Retrieved on June 20, 2006 from:

http://www.electroniccampus.org/student/srecinfo/publications/principles.asp

- Speck, B.W. (2002). Learning-Teaching-Assessment Paradigms and the Online Classroom. In R.S. Anderson, John F. Bauer and B. W. Speck (eds.), Assessment Strategies for the Online Class: From Theory to Practice. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, no. 91, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Strickland, K., & Strickland, J. (1998). Reflections on assessment, its purposes, methods, and effects on learning. Heinemann, Portsmouth, NH. Pg.27
- Sullivan, J. (1999). Statewide Online Web-based training program to prepare New Jersey community college faculty for distance teaching. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Nova Southeastern University.
- Sunal, D. W., Sunal, C.S., Odell, M. R., & Sundberg, C.A., (2003). Research-Supported Best Practices for Developing Online Learning, *The Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 3(1), 1-40.
- Swan, K. (2002). Building Learning Communities in Online Courses: the importance of interaction. *Education, Communication & Information*, 2(1), 23-49.
- Swan, K., Shea, P., Frederickesen, E., Pickett, A., Pelz, W. & Maher, G. (2000) Building knowledge building communities; consistency, contact and communication in the virtual classroom, *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 23(4), 389-413.
- Taylor, D. (2004). Teaching online: Postsecondary Faculty Perception of the Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes Necessary to Succeed. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 65(5), 1700. (UMI. No. 3130012)
- Twigg, C. A. (2001). "The Need for a National Learning Infrastructure," *Educom Review*, 29(4), 9 11

UCLA Academic Technology Services (2003). SPSS FAQ: What does Cronbach's alpha mean? Retrieved December 23, 2006, from

http://www.ats.ucla.edu/stat/spss/faq/alpha.html.

Volery, T. (2000). Critical success factors in online education. The International Journal of Educational Management, 14(5), 216-223.

Weiger, P.R. (1998). What a tangle (world wide) web we weave. *Community College Week*, 10(22), 11-13.

- Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education. [WICHE] (2001). Best Practices for Electronically Offered Degree and Certificate Programs. Retrieved September 15, 2006 from: <u>Http://www.wiche.edu/telecom/Accrediting%20-</u> %20Best%20Practices.pdf
- White, K.W., & Weight, B. H. (2000). *The online teaching guide: A handbook of attitudes, strategies, and techniques for the virtual classroom.* Needham Heights, ME: Allyn & Bacon.
- White, B.A., & Bridwell, C. (1998). *Distance Learning Techniques*. In M.W. Galbraith (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.), Adult Learning Methods: A Guide for Effective Instruction. Krieger Publishing, Malabar, Flordia.
- Wu, D., & Hiltz, S.R. (2004). Predicting learning from asynchronous online discussions. Journal of Asynchronous Learning Network, 8(2), 139-152.
- York, L. (2003). Quality science and mathematics research: Considerations of argument, evidence, and generalizability. *School Science and Mathematics*, *103*(*1*), 1-9.

Appendices

**Appendix A: Survey of Online Educational Practices** 

# **Survey of Online Educational Practices**

Section 1: Please specify the extent that you agree your online courses reflect the following practices by circling the number that best matches your opinion.	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Disagree Somewhat	Agree Somewhat	Agree	Strongly Agree
1. My institution provides adequate compensation for online course development and delivery.	1	2	3	4	5	6
2. My institution monitors the development and delivery of online courses.	1	2	3	4	5	6
3. My institution has a policy for intellectual property regarding online content.	1	2	3	4	5	6
4. My institution provides ongoing professional development in online course creation.	1	2	3	4	5	6
5. My institution provides training in the hardware and software technologies needed to deliver online instruction.	1	2	3	4	5	6
6. My institution provides training in copyright laws and legal issues related to teaching online.	1	2	3	4	5	6
		1				
7. My institution's online course delivery platform rarely has downtime.	1	2	3	4	5	6
8. My institution provides technological support 24 hours a day for my online courses.	1	2	3	4	5	6
9. My institution provides an online delivery platform that is easy to use. (e.g. WebCT, Desire to Learn, Sakai)	1	2	3	4	5	6
10. My institution provides mentoring for online instructors.	1	2	3	4	5	6
11. My institution allows other faculty to review my online courses for clarity and consistency.	1	2	3	4	5	6
12. I work with instructional designers from my institution to develop my online courses.	1	2	3	4	5	6
13. I design my courses to allow students to play a significant role in course content and assessments.	1	2	3	4	5	6
14. I handle unexpected technological interruptions with little hindrance to the flow of the course. (e.g. If the online course is unavailable, I permit my students to submit their assignments late, or by other means: such as other email, or postal mail.)	1	2	3	4	5	6
15. I am flexible with deadlines for online course work.	1	2	3	4	5	6

Please continue on the back of this page.

Section 1: Please specify the extent that you agree your online courses reflect the following practices by circling the number that best matches your opinion.		Disagree	Disagree Somewhat	Agree Somewhat	Agree	Strongly Agree
16. I respond to students within 24 to 48 hours in my online courses.	1	2	3	4	5	6
17. I provide my feedback policies clearly at the beginning of the online course within the syllabus. (e.g. I inform students when to expect a reply.)	1	2	3	4	5	6
I provide students with detailed constructive critiques of their work. 1 2 3 4 5 6					6	
19. I provide online assessments that address different learning styles. (e.g. aural, visual, tactile )	1	2	3	4	5	6
20. I provide assessments that are built on critical reflections of the course content. (e.g. journaling, critical writing, essay)	1	2	3	4	5	6
21. I include collaborative assessment activities in my online courses. ( e.g. discussions, small group projects)	1	2	3	4	5	6
22. I encourage problem solving in my online courses (e.g. Students are provided with case studies to examine.)	1	2	3	4	5	6
23. I promote social interaction in my online courses. (e.g. Student biographical sections, Student open discussion forums)	1	2	3	4	5	6
24. I act as a facilitator rather than a lecturer in my online courses.	1	2	3	4	5	6

# Section 2: Please provide the following information about yourself by circling one answer for each item:

25. My sex is: Male Female

26. My Faculty Status is : Full Time Part Time

- 27. My Faculty Status is: Tenured Non-Tenured
- 27. I have worked in higher education: \_\_\_\_\_ years
- 28. I have worked in online education: \_\_\_\_\_ years

29. Please provide additional comments below about your online teaching experiences:

Michael H. Murphy c/o Marshall University Graduate College, 100 Angus E. Peyton Drive, South Charleston, 25303

If a self-addressed return envelope is not available with this survey, please return the survey to:

**Appendix B: Survey Cover Letter** 

# Dear Faculty,

You have been selected to participate in this doctoral research study as part of a sampling of West Virginia higher education faculty. The purpose of this study is to examine the practices that West Virginia higher education faculty use for teaching in an online educational environment. Possible benefits of this research include: informing higher education administrators about the development and delivery of online education; extending educators' knowledge of online learning practices; and providing information for effective faculty development opportunities in online education.

I appreciate that your time is valuable. The attached survey will only take approximately fifteen minutes to complete. Participation is completely voluntary, and your responses are confidential. Data will be securely stored and will be reported in aggregate form only with no identification of individual faculty or institution. However, in the event that I may be required to contact non-respondents; the return envelope in your package is coded for re-mailing purposes.

Your responses are critical. Your timely participation will greatly reinforce my research. However, there is no penalty for declining to participate in this study. I only request that you please answer the questions as honestly and accurately as possible. I am requesting that all responses be returned by September 7, 2007. Enclosed you will find a stamped self-addressed envelope for your mailing convenience.

Please keep this cover letter for your records. If you have any question regarding the study, you may contact me at 304-746-1973. If you have questions concerning your rights as a research subject, you may contact Dr. Stephen Cooper, IRB#2 - Behavioral and Social Science Chair, at the Office of Research Integrity at Marshall University at 304-696-7320. Please accept my gratitude in advance for your cooperation and timely participation in this research study.

Appreciatively,

Michael H. Murphy, Ed.S Marshall University Graduate College 100 Angus E. Peyton Drive South Charleston, West Virginia 25303 Phone: 304-746-1973 **Appendix C: Post Card Reminder** 

Dear Faculty:

Recently you received a packet requesting your participation in a study regarding practices in online education. If you have returned your survey, I would like to offer my earnest gratitude for your time and contribution to my study.

If you have not returned your survey, I respectfully request that you would consider participating in the study. The survey will take only a few minutes to complete and your input is exceedingly valuable in determining strengths and weaknesses in our online educational endeavors. Even if you are not currently teaching online, or if your course is only partially online, your input will help strengthen our understanding of quality practices in online education. Thank you again for taking a few minutes of your time to fill out and return the survey.

Appreciatively,

Michael H. Murphy, Ed.S. Marshall University Graduate College 100 Angus E. Peyton Drive South Charleston, West Virginia 25303 Appenidx D: Follow Up Survey Cover Letter

Date:

Dear Faculty,

Recently you received a packet requesting your participation in a doctoral research study at Marshall University Graduate College. The cover letter accompanying the packet explained the purpose of the study is to examine the practices that West Virginia higher education faculty use for teaching in an online educational environment. **If you have misplaced your first packet, here is the information again.** 

I appreciate that your time is valuable. The attached survey will take a few minutes to complete. Participation is completely voluntary, and your responses are confidential. Even if you are not currently teaching online, your input is still valuable. Data will be securely stored and will be reported in aggregate form only with no identification of individual faculty. However, in the event that I may be required to send out reminders or another package; the return envelope in your package is coded for re-mailing purposes only.

Your responses are critical. Your timely participation will greatly reinforce my research. However, there is no penalty for declining to participate in this study. I request that you please answer the questions as honestly and accurately as possible. I am requesting that all responses be returned by [date]. Enclosed you will find a stamped self-addressed envelope for your mailing convenience.

Please keep this cover letter for your records. If you have any question regarding the study, you may contact me at 304-746-1973. If you have questions concerning your rights as a research subject, you may contact Dr. Stephen Cooper, IRB#2 - Behavioral and Social Science Chair, at the Office of Research Integrity at Marshall University at 304-696-7320. Please accept my gratitude in advance for your cooperation and timely participation in this research study.

Appreciatively,

Michael H. Murphy, Ed.S Marshall University Graduate College 100 Angus E. Peyton Drive South Charleston, West Virginia 25303 Phone: 304-746-1973 **Appendix E: Panel Of Experts** 

### Panel of Experts

The following individuals served as a panel of experts to establish readability and content validity for the *Survey of Online Educational Practices*:

Nancy G. Burton, Ed.S. Associate Professor of Education Division of Education and Human Performance Concord University PO Box 1000, Campus Box 37 Athens, West Virginia 24712

Dixie Billheimer Coordinator for School Improvement West Virginia Center for Professional Development 208 Hale Street Charleston, West Virginia 25301

Dr. Michael L. Cunningham Professor and Program Director, Leadership Studies Graduate School of Education and Professional Development Marshall University 100 Angus E. Peyton Drive South Charleston, West Virginia 25303

Dr. Sandra Lee Orr Associate Professor of Education West Virginia State University 629 Wallace Hall PO Box 1000 Institute, West Virginia 25112

Dr. Edna M. Meisel Assistant Professor Graduate School of Education and Professional Development Marshall University 100 Angus E. Peyton Drive South Charleston, West Virginia 25303

Sherri Ritter, M.S. Instructional Technologist Marshall University 100 Angus E. Peyton Drive South Charleston, West Virginia 25303 **Appendix F: Questions For Panel Of Experts** 

# Readability and Content Validity Questions for Panel of Experts

- 1. Are the questions written as to be uniformly understood?
- 2. Do the questions contain abbreviations or unconventional phrases?
- 3. Are the questions too vague?
- 4. Are the questions biased?
- 5. Are the questions objectionable?
- 6. Are the questions too demanding?
- 7. Do any questions embody a double question?
- 8. Do the questions contain a double negative?
- 9. Are the answer choices mutually exclusive?
- 10. Do the questions assume too much knowledge on the respondent's part?

(From Smith & Glass, 1987 page 248)

Please add any additional general comments about the survey below:

Thank you,

Please return this information as soon as possible to:

Michael H. Murphy 100 Angus E. Peyton Dr. South Charleston, West Virginia, 25303 Email: <u>mmurphy@marshall.edu</u> Phone: 304-746-1973 **Appendix G: IRB Approval Letter** 

# IRB Approval Letter (Scanned Image)

UNIVER	SITY.	
ww.marshall	. edu	
Office of Resea Institutional Re	rch Integrity view Board	
Tuesday, May 01, 2	2007	
Rudy Pauley, Ed.D Elementary/Second 100 Angus E. Peyto South Charleston, V	lary Education on Dr. VV. 25303	
RE: IRB Study # E	x07-0144 At-	Marchall IDD 2
Dear Dr. Poulour	AL.	
Deal Dr. Pauley:		
A Descriptive Analys Faculty	sis of Quality Onli	ne Practices as Perceived by West Virginia Higher Education
Expiration Date:	4/30/2008	
Our Internal #:	3544	
Type of Change:	(Other)	Exempted
Expedited ?:	11	
Date of Change:	4/30/2007	
Date Received:	4/30/2007	
On Meeting Date:		
Description:	In accordance w were granted Ex for the period of review request f expiration date.	vith 45CFR46.101(b)(2), the above study and informed consent compted approval today by the Marshall University IRB#2 Chair 12 months. The approval will expire 4/30/08. A continuing for this study must be submitted no later than 30 days prior to the This study is for student Michael Murphy.
	The purpose of Virginia higher e as identified by t	this anonymous survey study is to examine the extent West ducation faculty agree their online courses reflect best practices, he literature, for teaching in an online educational environment
Respectfully yours,		
Stepnen D. Cooper, F Marshall University IF	Ph.D. RB#2 Chairpersor	1

401 11th Street, Suite 1300 • Huntington, West Virginia 25701 • Tel 304/696-7320 for IRB #1 or 304/696-4303 for IRB #2 • www.marshall.edu/ori A Stree University of West Virginia - An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer **Curriculum Vitae** 

### **Curriculum Vitae**

Michael H. Murphy Associate Director of Regional Campuses for Computing Services Adjunct Faculty- Marshall University Graduate College Marshall University -100Angus E. Peyton Drive, South Charleston, West Virginia 25303-1600 Email: mmurphy@mashall.edu - Phone: 304.382.3062

#### Academic Degrees

#### **Doctor of Education Ed.D. 2008**

Marshall University--South Charleston, WV Major: Curriculum and Instruction Cognate: Educational Technology

#### **Education Specialist (Ed.S.), 2004**

Marshall University--South Charleston, WV Major: Curriculum and Instruction

#### Master of Secondary Education (M.A.), 2002

Marshall University Graduate College--South Charleston, WV Cognate: Educational Technology

# Bachelor of Science (B.S.), 1996

Eastern Mennonite University--Harrisonburg, VA Major: Business Administration

### Professional Experience

#### Adjunct Faculty (1998 - present)

Elementary and Secondary Education Graduate School of Education and Professional Development Marshall University, South Charleston, WV

#### Service Related Activities:

University, College, and Division Service. (1998 -present). Technology-related committees for graduate school and search committees. Initial website development for Graduate School of Education and Professional Development and maintenance, etc. (GSEPD at Marshall University). Attended and presented at local, statewide, national, and international conferences. Responsible for providing collaborative leadership, vision, and oversight into IBM's Learning Village group development for Marshall. Provided guidance in best practices in online environment instruction to faculty. Provided face-to-face and online instruction in the follow areas:

#### **Adjunct Faculty - Courses Taught:**

CI 559: Multicultural Influences in Education CIEC 534: Application software in the classroom curriculum. CIEC 610: LAN and telecommunications in the classroom. EDF 665: Sociology in American Schools. EDF 615: History of Education in the United States Associate Director of Regional Campuses for Computing Services (1998-present) Marshall University - South Charleston Campus South Charleston, West Virginia

# **Service Related Activities:**

Responsible for the coordination of computing services activities at the following regional campus centers: South Charleston Campus, South Charleston, WV; the Beckley Center, Beckley, WV; the Mid-Ohio Valley Center, Point Pleasant, WV; the Teays Valley Center, Teays Valley, WV; the Logan Center, Logan, WV; the Larry Joe Harless Center, Gilbert, WV; the Mullens Opportunity Center, Mullens, WV.

Responsible for providing collaborative leadership, vision, oversight, planning and management in relation to Computing Services on remote campuses, as well as participation in the strategic planning efforts of the Computing Services division by ensuring the following duties are implemented personally or via professionally managed staff:

# **Publications**

Billheimer, D, Sigman, K., Murphy, M.H., & Heaton, L. (2005). Multimedia in Education: Integration on Multiple Levels. Proceedings from the *World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia and Telecommunications 2005*. Retrieved, August 3, 2005 from AACE Digital Library: Volume 2005, Number 1: Keyword Search: Michael Murphy

Karassaris, K., Meyer, C., & Murphy, M. H.(2006). Brain based learning theory and its implications in the middle school. *National Social Science Journal. Vol.* 27,(1) http://www.nssa.us/27\_1/27-1%2011%20KorcsmarosBrain-Based.htm

Meyer, C., Murphy, M. H. & Karassaris, K. (2005). Brain based learning theory and its implications in the middle school. Proceedings from the *National Social Science Association*.

Schimmel, C., Orr, S. & Murphy, M. H. (2004). *Some Courses Do, Some Don't: Examining What Courses Offer Effective Online Learning in Higher Education*. Proceedings of WVSTC 2004 sponsored by the West Virginia Education Network. Retrieved, October 20, 2004 from: http://www.wvnet.edu/conference/proceedings/proceedings.html.

# Invited Presentations, Workshops and Consulting

Murphy, M. H. (2006, June-July). Virtual Schools, West Virginia State Department of Education. Evaluator for online educational courses in the K-12 environment for West Virginia school systems. Evaluations: June - July 2006.

Murphy, M. H., Meisel, E., Hollingsworth, S., Hundley, E., & Jones, M. (2005, April 2). *Doctoral Student Panel.* Session presented to new doctoral students: Marshall University Graduate College, South Charleston, West Virginia.

Murphy, M. H., & Heaton, L.A. (2004, April 2). *Using M.S. Word templates for Manuscripts*. Session presented for doctoral students for creating APA templates for dissertations and other manuscripts. Marshall University Graduate College, South Charleston, West Virginia.

Murphy, M. H., Hodge, J. & Meisel, E. (2004, April 17). *Putting the pieces together*. Panel session presented to new doctoral students: Marshall University Graduate College, South Charleston, West Virginia.

Murphy, M. H. & Schimmel, C. (2003, November 4). *The Integration of IBM's Learning Village (Computer Application) in the Classroom.* Class session presented for Tennerton Elementary School Teachers, Buckhannon, West Virginia.

Heaton, L. A., & Murphy, M. H. (2000, April 10). *Discussion of Computers and Technology*. Invited presentation to high school seniors: South Charleston High School. South Charleston, West Virginia.

### **Conference Presentations**

Meyer, C., Murphy, M. H., & Meisel, E.(2007, February 20). *Authentic Assessment Online: Avoiding the Poseidon Adventure.* Session presented at the Association of Teacher Educators, National Conference in San Diego, California.

Murphy, M. H. (2006, April 28). Using Hot Potatoes, simple, fun and free technology for online assessment. Session presented at the West Virginia Association of Middle Learning Annual Conference, Stonewall Jackson State Resort.West Virginia.

Meyer, C., & Murphy, M. H. (2006, February 19). *Preparing and Defending a Doctoral Portfolio in Place of a Comprehensive Examination*. Session presented at the Association of Teacher Educators, National Conference in Atlanta, Georgia.

Heaton, L.A., & Murphy, M. H. (2005, December 1). *Integrating technology and simple online assessments*. Session presented at the 11th annual Virginia Educational Technology Leadership Conference. Roanoke, Virginia.

Sigman, K., Murphy, M. H., & Heaton, L. (2005, August 11). *Multimedia in Education: Integration on Multiple Levels*. Session presented at the West Virginia Statewide Technology Conference, Radisson Resort - Morgantown, West Virginia.

Billheimer, D., Sigman, K., Murphy, M. H., & Heaton, L. (2005, June 27). *Multimedia in Education: Integration on Multiple Levels*. Session presented at the World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia and Telecommunications (EDMEDIA), 2005 in Montreal, Canada.

Heaton, L.A., Murphy, M. H. & Pauley, R. (2005, April 23). *Using PDA technology in Science related projects in the middle school.* Session presented at the West Virginia Association of Middle Learning Annual Conference, Stonewall Jackson State Resort, West Virginia.

Meyer, C., & Murphy, M. H. (2005, February 14). So that's why kids act the way they do: Brain Based learning Theory and its Implications in the middle school. Session presented at the Association of Teacher Educators, National Conference in Chicago, Illinois.

Heaton, L.A., Pauley, R., Eagle, T. & Murphy, M. H. (2004, December 1). *Integrating technology and Palm Pilot applications*. Session presented at the 10th annual Virginia Educational Technology Leadership Conference. Roanoke, Virginia.

Meyer, C., & Murphy, M. H. (2004, October 13). *Brain Based Learning Theory and its Implications in the Social Science Classroom*. Session presented at the National Social Science Association Annual Conference, Conference Center, Holiday Inn - Inner Harbor, Baltimore, Maryland.

Schimmel, C., Murphy, M. H., & Orr, S. (2004, August 3). *Some do, some don't - Creating effective online distance education courses*. Session presented at the West Virginia Statewide Technology Conference. Civic Center - Charleston, West Virginia.

Heaton, L. A., & Murphy, M. H. (2004, August 2). *Photoshop Elements Workshop*. A session presented at the West Virginia Statewide Technology Conference. Clay Center - Charleston, West Virginia.

Meyer, C., & Murphy, M. H. (2004, April 21). *Brain Based Learning Theory and its Implications in the classroom*. Session presented at the WV Association of Middle Learning Conference. Stonewall Jackson State Resort - West Virginia.

### **Professional Organizations**

West Virginia Association of Middle level Educators (WVAMLE), 2004-present National Social Science Association (NSSA), 2004-2005 Association of Teacher Educators (ATE), 2004-present